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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Brownstein Hyatt Farber 

Schreck, LLP, and that on this 22nd day of October, 2018, I electronically filed 

and served by electronic mail a true and correct copies of the above and foregoing 

APPENDIX TO APPELLANTS’ OPENING BRIEF, VOLUME I of III 

properly addressed to the following:

James J. Jimmerson, Esq. 
The Jimmerson Law Firm, P.C. 
415 South Sixth Street, Suite 100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Email: ks@jimmersonlawfirm.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
FORE STARS, LTD., 180 LAND CO., LLC;  

             and SEVENTY ACRES, LLC 

U.S. Mail Copy to: 

Honorable Richard Scotti 
Eighth Judicial District 
Court of Clark County, Nevada 
Regional Justice Center 
200 Lewis Avenue, Department 2 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89155 

Elizabeth Ham, Esq. 
EHB Companies, LLC 
9755 West Charleston Boulevard 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89117 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
FORE STARS, LTD., 180 LAND CO., LLC;  
  and SEVENTY ACRES, LLC 

/s/ DeEtra Crudup
An employee of Brownstein Hyatt Farber 
Schreck, LLP
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NOTA
MITCHELL J. LANGBERG, ESQ., Bar No. 10118 
mlangberg@bhfs.com
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP 
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, NV  89106-4614 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:   702.382.8135 

Counsel for Defendants 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

FORE STARS, LTD., a Nevada limited 
liability company; 180 LAND CO., LLC; a 
Nevada limited liability company; 
SEVENTY ACRES, LLC, a Nevada 
limited liability company,  

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE, 
STEVE CARIA, and DOES 1 THROUGH 
100, 

Defendants, 

CASE NO.:  A-18-771224-C
DEPT NO.:  XXXI 

NOTICE OF APPEARANCE 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Mitchell J. Langberg, of Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, 

LLP, 100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600, Las Vegas, NV 89106, hereby appears in the above-

entitled matter as attorney of record on behalf of Defendants Daniel Omerza, Darren Bresee and 

Steve Caria.  

/// 

/// 
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Electronically Filed
4/6/2018 1:40 PM
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CLERK OF THE COURT
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It is requested that all future correspondence and filings be directed to the undersigned. 

DATED this 6th day of April, 2018. 

BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP 

BY: /s/ Mitchell J. Langberg
MITCHELL J. LANGBERG, ESQ., Bar No. 10118 
mlangberg@bhfs.comLAURA B. LANGBERG, ESQ.,  
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP 
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, NV  89106-4614 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:   702.382.8135 

Counsel for Defendants
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP, 

and pursuant to NRCP 5(b), EDCR 8.05, Administrative Order 14-2, and NEFCR 9, I caused a 

true and correct copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF APPEARANCE be submitted electronically 

for filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial District Court via the Court's Electronic Filing 

System on the 6th day of April, 2018, to the following: 

James J. Jimmerson, Esq. 
The Jimmerson Law Firm, P.C. 
415 South Sixth Street, Suite 100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Email: ks@jimmersonlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

/s/ Paula Kay
an employee of Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP 
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MDSM
Mitchell J. Langberg, Esq., Bar No. 10118 
mlangberg@bhfs.com 
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER & SCHRECK LLP
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600
Las Vegas, Nevada  89106 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:  702.382.8135 

Attorneys For Defendants 
DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE,  
and STEVE CARIA

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

FORE STARS, LTD., a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company; 180 LAND CO., LLC, 
a Nevada Limited Liability Company; 
SEVENTY ACRES, LLC, a Nevada 
Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE, 
STEVE CARIA, and DOES 1 THROUGH 
1000, 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  A-18-771224-C

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 
PURSUANT TO NRCP 12(b)(5) 

Hearing Date: 

Hearing Time: 

Defendants Daniel Omerza, Darren Bresee, and Steve Caria, by and through their counsel 

of record Mitchell J. Langberg of BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK LLP, hereby 

move to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(5) of the Nevada Rules of Civil 

Procedure. 

This Motion is made and based upon the following Memorandum of Points and 

Authorities, the concurrently filed Request for Judicial Notice, the pleadings and papers on file in 

this matter, as well as upon any oral argument the Court may entertain should this matter be set 

for hearing by the Court. 

Case Number: A-18-771224-C

Electronically Filed
4/13/2018 5:14 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

05/15/18

9:30 AM
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DATED this 13th day of April, 2018. 
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP

By  /s/ Mitchell J. Langberg________________ 
MITCHELL J. LANGBERG, ESQ. Bar No. 10118 
mlangberg@bhfs.com
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:   702.382.8135 

Attorneys For Defendants Daniel Omerza, Darren Bresee,
and Steve Caria 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO:  ALL INTERESTED PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the foregoing DEFENDANTS’ 

MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO NRCP 12(b)(5) for hearing before the above-

entitled Court on the ______ day of ______________, 2018, at ______ a.m./p.m. of said day in 

Department 31 of said Court. 

DATED this 13th day of April, 2018. 
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP

By  /s/ Mitchell J. Langberg________________ 
MITCHELL J. LANGBERG, ESQ. Bar No. 10118 
mlangberg@bhfs.com
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:   702.382.8135 

Attorneys For Defendants Daniel Omerza, Darren Bresee,
and Steve Caria 

15                      May                          9:30 

103



B
R

O
W

N
S

T
E

IN
 H

Y
A

T
T

 F
A

R
B

E
R

 S
C

H
R

E
C

K
,L

L
P

10
0 

N
or

th
 C

it
y 

P
ar

kw
ay

, 
S

ui
te

 1
60

0

L
as

 V
eg

as
, 

N
V

 8
91

06
-4

61
4

70
2.

38
2.

21
01

4

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Under separate cover, Defendants Daniel Omerza, Darren Bresee, and Steve Caria have 

filed a special motion to dismiss this action pursuant to Nevada’s anti-SLAPP statute, NRS 

41.635 et seq.  Defendants file this motion to dismiss, in an abundance of caution, so as to prevent 

any delay in the unlikely event that the Court finds the anti-SLAPP statute inapplicable or the 

grant of the anti-SLAPP motion is reversed on appeal. 

Even setting aside the nature of this action as a SLAPP suit, Plaintiffs’ complaint should 

be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(5) for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.  

Rule 12(b)(5) applies here for two independent reasons.  First, Plaintiffs have utterly failed to 

allege facts—as opposed to unsupported legal conclusions—that would support the claims for 

relief they assert.  Second, even if Plaintiffs had alleged sufficient facts to support their claims, on 

the face of the complaint and considering judicially noticeable materials, Defendants’ conduct is 

subject to an absolute privilege, or at a minimum a qualified privilege, to gather information for 

use of the City Council on a matter of public concern, which relieves Defendants of any potential 

liability.   

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

For purposes of this motion only, Defendants assume all of the factual allegations in the 

complaint to be true.  The following factual summary is based upon the factual allegations of the 

complaint, and upon two items of which the Court may take judicial notice: Judge Crockett’s 

ruling in a related proceeding before this Court and records of the Las Vegas City Council’s 

February 21, 2018 meeting.  See Breliant v. Preferred Equities Corp., 109 Nev. 842, 847, 858 

P.2d 1258, 1261 (1993) (on motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the court may consider 

court orders and other matters of public record). 

1. Defendants are residents of the Queensridge Common Interest Community in 

Clark County, Nevada.  Complaint, ¶¶ 4-8. 

2. Plaintiffs own a parcel of real estate adjacent to Queensridge, which was 

previously operated as the site of the Badlands Golf Course (“Badlands”).  Complaint, ¶ 9.  
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Defendants acknowledged when they purchased their homes that Badlands is not part of 

Queensridge.  Id., ¶ 12.  

3. It is apparent from the Complaint as a whole that Plaintiffs in this action intend to 

construct residential units on the Badlands site. 

4. To that end, Plaintiffs sought and received approval from the City of Las Vegas 

("City") for its plans to construct residential units at the Badlands site, the approval of which was 

challenged in a court proceeding in this Court, Case No. A-17-752344-J, before Judge Jim 

Crockett ("Binion Litigation").  A copy of the transcript of the hearing in the Binion Litigation is 

Exhibit "A" to the concurrently filed Request for Judicial Notice (“Binion Transcript”).

5. Judge Crockett determined that the Badlands property is contained within the 

Peccole Ranch community, and thus subject to the terms of the Peccole Ranch Master 

Development Plan ("Master Development Plan").    Id. at 5-10. 

6. Judge Crockett therefore determined that the City abused its discretion in 

approving Plaintiffs' application without first approving a major modification of the Master 

Development Plan.  Id.

7. This decision was partially based on Judge Crockett’s determination that people 

who bought into Peccole Ranch relied upon what the master planning was.  Id. 

8. Since Judge Crockett’s ruling, Plaintiffs have sought to amend the General Plan so 

as to allow their development plans.  See Exhibit "B" to the concurrently filed Request for 

Judicial Notice (Agenda Summary Page from City Council February 21, 2018 meeting). 

9. Defendants obviously oppose a major modification of the Master Plan of an 

amendment to the General Plan with respect to Badlands.  In what Plaintiffs characterize as a 

“scheme … to improperly influence and/or pressure public officials,” they have solicited 

declarations from other residents of Queensridge.  Complaint, ¶ 23. 

10. These declarations state that the undersigned purchased his or her Queensridge 

residence or lot "in reliance upon the fact that the open space/natural drainage system could not 

be developed pursuant to the City's Approval in 1990 of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan and 

subsequent formal actions designating the open space/natural drainage system in its General Plan 
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as Parks Recreation – Open Space which land use designation does not permit the building of 

residential units."  Id.  The declarations further state that "[a]t the time of purchase, the 

undersigned paid a significant lot premium to the original developer as consideration for the open 

space/natural drainage system."  Id.

11. Plaintiffs asset that these declarations are false.  Complaint, ¶ 24.  

III. ARGUMENT

Dismissal of an action under NRCP Rule 12(b)(5) is appropriate when it appears beyond a 

doubt that the plaintiff could prove no set of facts which, if true, would entitle it to relief.  Neville 

v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 406 P.3d 499, 502 (Nev. 2017).  In making that determination, all facts 

alleged in the complaint are presumed true and all inferences drawn in favor of the plaintiff.  Buzz 

Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008).  However, 

courts are not bound to accept as true legal conclusions couched as factual allegations.  Allen v. 

United States, 964 F. Supp. 2d 1239, (D. Nev. 2013). 

Here, Plaintiffs have failed to make factual allegations sufficient to support any of their 

stated claims for relief.  Further, the claims are untenable as a matter of law because they are 

subject to an absolute or qualified privilege. 

A. THE ALLEGATIONS OF THE COMPLAINT DO NOT SUPPORT A 
CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

The theme of Plaintiffs’ Complaint is that the statements in the declaration forms 

Defendants have provided to fellow residents are demonstrably false.  At the outset, there are 

several problems with Plaintiffs’ contention. 

First, Defendants’ conduct at issue is aimed at gathering declarations from other residents 

as to those residents’ reliance on the Master Development Plan.  Defendants themselves are 

making no factual assertions; rather, they are simply collecting statements of facts made by their 

fellow residents.  Thus, Plaintiffs (as opposed to the declarants on any such declaration) cannot 

reasonably be characterized as making any false statements. 

Second, even if the declarations were treated as factual statements by the Defendants 

themselves, Plaintiffs cannot seriously contend that Defendants knew the statements in the 
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declarations about reliance on the Peccole Ranch Master Plan are false, when Judge Crockett 

reached the very same conclusion about reliance in the Binion Litigation: 

[T]here was a phase 1 of Peccole Ranch, and Badlands, which was 
a golf course in phase 2 of Peccole Ranch.  Both golf courses were 
designed to be in a major flood zone and were designated as flood 
drainage and open space. 

At the time that was done 25 years ago or more the city mandated 
these designations to address the natural flooding problem and the 
open space necessary for master plan development. 

* * * 

The people who bought into this Peccole Ranch Master Plan 1 and 
2 did so in reliance upon what the master planning was.  They 
bought their homes, some of them made a very substantial 
investment, but no one making an insubstantial investment, and 
they moved into the neighborhood. 

Binion Transcript, at 6:1-9, 9:20-25.1  Judge Crockett obviously reached these conclusions in 

good faith based on his review of the record in the Binion Litigation; thus, Plaintiffs' insistence 

that Defendants could not assert in good faith that they purchased their homes in reliance upon 

the terms of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan—including the designation of Badlands for open 

space and natural drainage—is untenable.

In light of this error, Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to state any claim upon which relief can be 

granted.  In addition to their request for injunctive relief, Plaintiffs’ Complaint asserts five claims 

for relief, which fall into three categories: (i) intentional interference with prospective economic 

relations and negligent interference with prospective economic relations; (ii) conspiracy; and (iii) 

intentional misrepresentation and negligent misrepresentation.  As a matter of law, the factual 

allegations of the Complaint are not sufficient to support any of these claims. 

1. Intentional or Negligent Interference 

“A plaintiff prevails on a claim for interference with prospective economic advantage by 

1 Remarkably, Plaintiffs themselves call the Court’s attention to the Binion Litigation, see 
Complaint, ¶ 29, but omit any mention of Judge Crockett’s ruling on this key issue, even though 
it predated Plaintiffs’ Complaint by over two months.  The court may take judicial notice of this 
ruling as a public record on a motion to dismiss.  Breliant v. Preferred Equities Corp., 109 Nev. 
842, 847, 858 P.2d 1258, 1261 (1993). 
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proving: (1) a prospective contractual relationship between the plaintiff and a third party; (2) 

knowledge by the defendant of the prospective relationship; (3) intent to harm the plaintiff by 

preventing the relationship; (4) the absence of privilege or justification by the defendant; and (5) 

actual harm to the plaintiff as a result of the defendant’s conduct.”  LT Intern. Ltd. v. Shuffle 

Master, Inc., 8 F. Supp. 3d 1238, 1248 (D. Nev. 2014).  The applicable privilege will be 

discussed below.  None of the remaining four elements is adequately alleged in the Complaint. 

First, Plaintiffs do not even attempt to identify the prospective contractual or economic 

relations at issue in this claim for relief.  Instead, they simply assert that some undefined 

relationships with third parties would come about.  See Complaint, ¶ 41 (“Defendants … knew, or 

should have known, that Plaintiffs would be developing the Land with third parties”).  It is 

impossible for the Court to evaluate these nebulous allegations, or for Defendants to respond to 

them, where Plaintiffs have not even begun to identify what potential transactions are at issue. 

Second, Defendants can hardly be charged with knowledge of potential economic 

relationships that Plaintiffs are not even able to identify in their own Complaint. 

Third, Plaintiffs have alleged no facts that might support a finding that Defendants acted 

with intent to harm Plaintiffs, as opposed to the intent to maintain the value of their own property.  

See Wichinsky v. Mosa, 109 Nev. 84, 44, 847 P.2d 727, 730 (1993) (holding interference claim 

failed for lack of evidence of intent to harm plaintiff). 

Finally, Plaintiffs cannot identify any actual harm resulting from the unspecified 

interference they imagine.  They make conclusory allegations that damage occurred, Complaint, 

¶¶ 46, 55, but these allegations are meaningless in the absence of any factual allegations to 

explain how such purported damage has taken place. 

2. Conspiracy 

“In Nevada, an actionable civil conspiracy is defined as a combination of two or more 

persons, who by some concerted action, intend to accomplish some unlawful objective for the 

purpose of harming another which results in damage.”  Flowers v. Carville, 266 F. Supp. 2d 

1245, 1249 (D. Nev. 2003) (citations omitted).  The Complaint entirely fails to identify any such 

“unlawful objective,” however.  To the contrary, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants’ objective was 
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to “influence and/or pressure third-parties, including officials within the City of Las Vegas.”  

Complaint, ¶ 57.  But that is the very function of the political process, to influence officials in the 

exercise of their governmental authority.  Similarly, for Defendants “to object to Plaintiffs’ 

development” or “to use their political influence,” id., ¶ 60, does not in any way amount to an 

“unlawful objective.”  Plaintiffs state that Defendants did these things “improperly,” but this is a 

mere conclusion, divorced of any supporting allegations of fact.  The only factual support 

Plaintiffs even attempt to advance for their conspiracy claim is the assertion that the declarations 

Defendants obtained from other residents were false.  But this is untenable as a matter of law for 

the same reasons recited above.  In particular, the declarations were from other residents and do 

not constitute statements of fact by the Defendants.  Moreover, the declarations are consistent 

with this Court’s ruling in the Binion Litigation, and thus cannot be construed as deliberately 

false.  Plaintiffs have not articulated an “unlawful objective” that might support a claim 

conspiracy. 

Neither have Plaintiffs alleged any facts to support the element of damages resulting from 

the purported conspiracy.  They made a conclusory assertion that damages have occurred, 

Complaint, ¶ 61, but this is devoid of any factual allegations that conceivably might support a 

finding of actual damages. 

3. Intentional or Negligent Misrepresentation 

Finally, Plaintiffs’ Complaint does not allege any of the elements for a claim for 

intentional misrepresentation or negligent misrepresentation.  A misrepresentation claim in 

Nevada “is established by three factors: (1) a false representation that is made with either 

knowledge or belief that it is false or without a sufficient foundation, (2) an intent to induce 

another’s reliance, and (3) damages that result from this reliance.”  Nelson v. Heer, 123 Nev. 217, 

225-26, 163 P.3d 420, 426 (2007); see also Wild Game Ng, LLC v. IGT, 2015 WL 7575352, *1 

(Nev. Nov. 24, 2015) (“instead of deceitful intent, negligent misrepresentation arises when one 

fails to exercise reasonable care in ascertaining the truth”). 

None of those factors is adequately alleged here.  Plaintiffs assert that the facts in the 

declarations at issue are false, but again those are factual assertions by the declarants not by 
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Defendants, and they are entirely consistent with this Court’s ruling in the Binion Litigation.  

Nowhere do Plaintiffs allege that anyone has relied on these declarations.  Plaintiffs do assert in 

conclusory fashion that they suffered damages from the declarations, Complaint, ¶¶ 64, 68, but 

there are no factual allegations to support that conclusion.  Plaintiffs have not alleged facts to 

support these claims for relief.  

B. DEFENDANTS’ EFFORTS IN GATHERING INFORMATION FOR AN 
ANTICIPATED PROCEEDING ARE PRIVILEGED 

Even if Plaintiffs had adequately alleged facts to support their specific claims for relief, 

Defendants could not be liable to Plaintiffs for the solicitation of the Declarations, or for any 

statements contained in the Declarations because they are absolutely privileged, or at a minimum, 

subject to an applicable qualified privilege. 

1. Absolute Privilege 

Nevada recognizes "the long-standing common law rule that communications uttered or 

published in the course of judicial proceedings are absolutely privileged so long as they are in 

some way pertinent to the subject matter of the controversy."   Circus Circus Hotels, Inc. v. 

Witherspoon, 99 Nev. 56, 60, 657 P.2d 101 (1983).  This rule includes "statements made in the 

course of quasi-judicial proceedings …."  Knox v. Dick, 99 Nev. 514, 518, 665 P.2d 267 

(1983)(citation omitted); see also Circus Circus, 99 Nev. at 61 ("the absolute privilege attached to 

judicial proceedings has been extended to quasi-judicial proceedings before executive officers, 

boards, and commissions….")(citations omitted).    

Under the rule, statements in letters may be absolutely privileged (Richards v. Conklin, 94 

Nev. 84, 85, 575 P.2d 588, 589 (1978)), and a statement at issue does not even have to be made 

during any actual proceedings (see Fink v. Oshins, 118 Nev. 428, 433, 49 P.3d 640 (2002)("the 

privilege applies not only to communications made during actual judicial proceedings, but also to 

'communications preliminary to a proposed judicial proceeding.'")(footnote citation omitted)).  To 

the extent that any doubts regarding privilege exist, they should be resolved in favor of 

application.   See Clark County Sch. Dist. v. Virtual Educ. Software, Inc., 125 Nev. 374, 382, 213 

P.3d 496 (2009)(citation omitted)(noting that "because the scope of the absolute privilege is 

110



B
R

O
W

N
S

T
E

IN
 H

Y
A

T
T

 F
A

R
B

E
R

 S
C

H
R

E
C

K
,L

L
P

10
0 

N
or

th
 C

it
y 

P
ar

kw
ay

, 
S

ui
te

 1
60

0

L
as

 V
eg

as
, 

N
V

 8
91

06
-4

61
4

70
2.

38
2.

21
01

11

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28 

broad, a court determining whether the privilege applies should resolve any doubt in favor of a 

broad application.")(emphasis added).   

In State ex rel. Bd. of Parole Comm'rs v. Morrow, 127 Nev. 265, 273, 255 P.3d 224 

(2011), the Nevada Supreme Court discussed the judicial function test, which "is a means of 

determining whether an administrative proceeding is quasi-judicial by examining the hearing 

entity's function.[]" Id. at 273 (citation omitted)(emphasis added).   Then the Court discussed: 

If the hearing entity's function is judicial in nature, its acts qualify 
as quasi-judicial. [ ]  In determining whether  a hearing entity's 
function is judicial, other jurisdictions consider whether the hearing 
entity has authority to: '"(1) exercise judgment and discretion; (2) 
hear and determine or to ascertain facts and decide; (3) make 
binding orders and judgments; (4) affect the personal property 
rights of private persons; (5) examine witnesses and hearing the 
litigation of the issues on a hearing; and (6) enforce decisions or 
impose penalties.'" Craig v. Stafford Constr., Inc., 271 Conn. 78, 
856 A.2d 372 (Conn. 2004)(quoting Kelley v. Bonney, 221 Conn. 
549, 606 A.2d 693, 703 (Conn. 1992), and considering, also, 
whether a sound policy basis exists for protecting the hearing entity 
from suit). [ ]  These factors are not exclusive, and determining 
whether a proceeding is quasi-judicial is an imprecise exercise 
because many different types of entities perform judicial functions." 
[citation]   We have previously used the judicial function test in this 
state to determine whether entities act in a quasi-judicial manner 
when performing their administrative duties,[ ] and we now 
expressly adopt the judicial function test for doing so in the future.   

Id. at 273-74.   

In the instant case, any statements in the Declaration are subject to an absolute privilege 

because Plaintiffs had already initiated the application process for amendment of the General 

Plan, and the proceedings before the City Council relating to the application are quasi-judicial in 

nature.  See UDC 19.16.030.   The factors discussed in Morrow are instructive, and the procedure 

set forth in Unified Development Code 19.16.030 (addressing General Plan Amendment) satisfies 

the test set forth in Morrow, 127 Nev. at 273-74.   

First, in deciding land use matters the City Council exercises judgment and discretion, and 

hears and determines facts before rendering a decision.  See Stratosphere Gaming Corp. v. City of 

Las Vegas, 120 Nev. 523, 528 (2004)(determining that the process under the Las Vegas 

Municipal Code for City Council to approve plaintiff's proposed development of the property 

requires the City Council to "consider a number of factors and to exercise its discretion in 
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reaching a decision.").   Indeed, Section 19.16.030 expressly provides that a City Council 

decision is made after a hearing, and the City Council must consider "facts presented at the public 

hearing" before making a decision on the amendment.  See UDC 19.16.030(H)(1),(2).  In fact, 

there are a number of specific determinations that the City Council must make before approving a 

proposed General Plan Amendment.   UDC 19.16.030(I)(1)-(4).2

The City Council has the authority to "may make and adopt all ordinances, resolutions 

and orders… which are necessary for the municipal government, the management of the affairs 

of the City and the execution of all of the powers which are vested in the City."  Las Vegas City 

Charter § 2.090(1)(emphasis added).  In accordance, the General Plan Amendment process results 

in a binding written decision containing "reasons for the decision" that is provided to the 

"applicant, agent or both" and the notice is formally filed with the City Clerk.  UDC 

19.16.030(H)(3).  There is also no question that the decision by the City Council would affect the 

"personal property and rights of private persons."  Indeed, at a minimum, the dispute at issue 

implicates Plaintiffs' property rights in the Land.  Additionally, as a general matter the City 

Council has the power to examine and hear witnesses to assist the City Council in making its 

decisions.  In fact, the City Council has authority to "[o]rder the attendance of witnesses and the 

production of all documents which relate to any business before the City Council" and the "City 

Council … may apply to the clerk of the district court for a subpoena which commands the 

attendance of that person before the City Council."  Las Vegas City Charter § 2.080(1)(d), (2)(a).  

Finally, the City, including the City Council, has the ability to enforce decisions or impose 

penalties.3  Based on the foregoing, the proceedings of the City Council relating to Plaintiffs' 

2 The City Council must determine that "the density and intensity of the proposed General Plan 
Amendment is compatible with the existing adjacent land use designations", the "zoning 
designations allowed by the proposed amendment will be compatible with the existing adjacent 
land uses or zoning districts", "[t]here are adequate transportation, recreation, utility, and other 
facilities to accommodate the uses and densities permitted by the proposed General Plan 
designation" and "[t]he propose amendment conforms to other applicable adopted plans and 
policies."  UDC 19.16.030(I)(1)-(4).  
3For example, the Unified Development Code provides that "[e]nforcement of the provisions of 
this Title shall be pursued in order to provide for its effective administration, to ensure 
compliance with any condition of development approval, to promote the City's planning efforts, 
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pending application for amendment of the General Plan are quasi-judicial.   

The fact that the statements in the declarations were solicited or gathered prior to the 

public hearing of the City Council does not undermine any finding that the statements therein are 

absolutely privileged.  See Fink, 118 Nev. at 433 ("the privilege applies … to 'communications 

preliminary to a proposed judicial proceeding.'").  Here, the statements were collected by 

individuals with a significant interest in the outcome of the application for the purpose of 

providing input for consideration by the City Council in determining whether to approve 

Plaintiffs' application for amendment of the General Plan, so there is a direct relevance to 

Plaintiffs' pending application and the related City Council proceedings.  Indeed, the Declaration 

was specifically addressed to the "City of Las Vegas".  See Complaint, Ex. 1.   

2. Qualified Privilege 

Even if absolute privilege did not apply, Defendants cannot be liable to Plaintiffs because 

any statements in the declarations are also subject to a qualified or conditional privilege.  Under 

Nevada law, "[a] qualified or conditional privilege exists where a defamatory statement is made 

in good faith on any subject matter in which the person communicating has an interest, or in 

reference to which he has a right or duty, if it is made to a person with a corresponding interest or 

duty."  Circus Circus, 99 Nev. at 62 (citations omitted).  Where any such privilege applies, 

alleged defamatory statements "are not actionable unless the privilege is abused by publishing the 

statements with malice."  Bank of America Nevada v. Bordeau, 115 Nev. 263, 267, 982 P.2d 474 

(1999) (citations omitted).  "[P]laintiff must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the 

defendant abused the privilege by publishing the defamatory communication with actual malice. [ 

] Actual malice is a stringent standard that is proven by demonstrating that "a statement is 

published with knowledge that it was false or with reckless disregard for its veracity."  Pope v. 

Motel 6, 121 Nev. 307, 317, 114 P.3d 277 (2005).   

and to protect the public health, safety and general welfare" and that the "provisions of this Title, 
and any conditions of development approval which have been imposed thereunder, may be 
enforced by the Director; the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department; and any other City of 
Las Vegas officer and employee designated to do so."  UDC 19.00.090(A)(1), (2).   
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Here, the declarations were exchanged between property owners who had an "interest" in 

the outcome of Plaintiffs' application for amendment of the General Plan.  As alleged, Defendants 

(in truth, only two of them) participated in the distribution of declarations to be provided to 

residents of Queensridge.  Complaint, Ex. 1.   The declarations are consistent with the 

conclusions of Judge Crockett, in which he determined that residents purchased property in the 

community in reliance on the Master Development Plan.   Thus, to the extent that there were any 

statements by Defendants in the Declaration, they are subject to a conditional or qualified 

privilege as well. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

Because Plaintiffs do not adequately state a claim and because Defendants acts were 

privileged, as a matter of law, Defendants respectfully request that the Court dismiss Plaintiffs' 

claims, with prejudice. 

DATED this 13th day of April, 2018. 

BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP

By  /s/ Mitchell J. Langberg________________ 
MITCHELL J. LANGBERG, ESQ. Bar No. 10118 
mlangberg@bhfs.com
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:   702.382.8135 

Attorneys For Defendants Daniel Omerza, Darren Bresee,
and Steve Caria 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP, 

and pursuant to NRCP 5(b), EDCR 8.05, Administrative Order 14-2, and NEFCR 9, I caused a 

true and correct copy of the foregoing DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT 

TO NRCP 12(b)(5) be submitted electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial 

District Court via the Court's Electronic Filing System on the 13th day of April, 2018, to the 

following: 

James J. Jimmerson, Esq. 
The Jimmerson Law Firm, P.C. 
415 South Sixth Street, Suite 100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Email: ks@jimmersonlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
FORE STARS, LTD., 180 LAND CO., LLC;  

            and  SEVENTY ACRES, LLC 

/s/ DeEtra Crudup
an employee of Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP 
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MOT 
Mitchell J. Langberg, Esq., Bar No. 10118
mlangberg@bhfs.com 
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER & SCHRECK LLP  
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89106 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:  702.382.8135 

Attorneys For Defendants 
DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE,  
and STEVE CARIA 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

FORE STARS, LTD., a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company; 180 LAND CO., LLC, 
a Nevada Limited Liability Company; 
SEVENTY ACRES, LLC, a Nevada 
Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE, 
STEVE CARIA, and DOES 1 THROUGH 
1000, 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  A-18-771224-C

DEFENDANTS’ SPECIAL MOTION TO 
DISMISS (ANTI-SLAPP MOTION) 
PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT PURSUANT 
TO NRS §41.635 ET. SEQ. 

Hearing Date:   

Hearing Time:

Defendants Daniel Omerza, Darren Bresee, and Steve Caria, by and through their counsel 

of record Mitchell J. Langberg of BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK LLP, hereby 

move to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint pursuant to NRS §41.635 et seq. 

This Motion is made and based upon the following Memorandum of Points and 

Authorities, the declarations attached thereto, the concurrently filed Request for Judicial Notice, 

the pleadings and papers on file in this matter, as well as upon any oral argument the Court may 

entertain should this matter be set for hearing by the Court. 

/ / / 

Case Number: A-18-771224-C

Electronically Filed
4/13/2018 5:10 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

05/01/2018

9:00 am

Department 24
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DATED this 13th day of April, 2018. 
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP

By:       /s/ Mitchell J. Langberg________________ 
MITCHELL J. LANGBERG, ESQ. Bar No. 10118 
mlangberg@bhfs.com
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:   702.382.8135 

Attorneys For Defendants Daniel Omerza, Darren Bresee,
and Steve Caria 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO:  ALL INTERESTED PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the foregoing  DEFENDANTS’ 

SPECIAL MOTION TO DISMISS (ANTI-SLAPP MOTION) PLAINTIFFS’ 

COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO NRS §41.635 ET. SEQ. for hearing before the above-entitled 

Court on the ______ day of ______________, 2018, at ______ a.m./p.m. of said day in 

Department 31 of said Court. 

DATED this 13th day of April, 2018. 
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP

By:  /s/ Mitchell J. Langberg________________ 
MITCHELL J. LANGBERG, ESQ. Bar No. 10118 
mlangberg@bhfs.com
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:   702.382.8135 

Attorneys For Defendants Daniel Omerza, Darren Bresee,
and Steve Caria 

1st MAY 9:00
24
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

This is a textbook example of a "Strategic Lawsuit Against Public Participation" (a 

"SLAPP suit").  The entirety of Plaintiffs' case seeks to penalize Defendants for exercising their 

First Amendment rights of free speech and to petition the government because they dared to 

oppose a developer's efforts to have the Las Vegas City Council allow building in areas now 

reserved for non-residential use.  Because the case has no merit, Nevada's anit-SLAPP statute 

requires that it be dismissed and that Defendants be awarded their attorneys' fees and other 

damages. 

Defendants Daniel Omerza, Darren Bresee, and Steve Caria are neighbors living next to a 

parcel of real estate that has long been used as a golf course, but Plaintiffs seek the approval of 

the Las Vegas City Council (the "City Council") for an amendment to the City of Las Vegas 

General Plan (the "General Plan") to allow Plaintiffs to develop the parcel into residential units.  

Two of the defendants oppose the development and have provided declarations for fellow 

neighbors to indicate if they purchased their homes in reliance on the existing Peccole Ranch 

Master Development Plan (the "Master Development Plan"), which designated the property at 

issue as an open space/natural drainage system/golf course.  One of the defendants merely signed 

the declaration.  The question of the neighbors’ reliance on the Master Development Plan was an 

issue specifically raised by this Court (Judge Crockett) in separate litigation over Plaintiffs’ 

development plans.   

This case could not be more transparent as to Plaintiffs’ intentions.  It is designed not to 

redress cognizable injuries from any tenable claim for relief, but to discourage Defendants from 

continuing to exercise their First Amendment rights to weigh in on an issue of public concern.  

What Defendants are accused of is nothing more or less than a grass roots community effort to 

raise significant issues with the City Council.  Such efforts are, of course, at the heart of the First 

Amendment’s protection of freedom of speech and the right to petition. 

To protect its citizens’ First Amendment rights, the Nevada Legislature has created a 

special process for disposing of such an improper “SLAPP” lawsuit.  Under NRS §41.635 et seq., 
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the Court should undertake a two-prong analysis of Plaintiffs’ claims.  First, the burden is on 

Defendants to show that the claims against them arise from their good faith exercise of their First 

Amendment rights.  If Defendants satisfy this first prong, then the second prong shifts the burden 

to Plaintiffs to demonstrate with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claims. 

Here, the first prong heavily favors Defendants.  The conduct at issue consists of nothing 

but First Amendment activities—namely, communications aimed at procuring a preferred 

outcome from the City Council, including by obtaining declarations from residents who relied on 

the existing master plan when they purchased their homes.  Any attempt by Plaintiffs to dispute 

the statements in these declarations are unavailing, because the declarations constitute factual 

assertions by the declarants, and because the declarations are consistent with this Court’s findings 

in a separate action concerning Plaintiffs’ development plans. 

Moreover, Plaintiffs cannot conceivably meet the second prong, because their Complaint 

fails to state any viable claim for relief, and because Defendants have either an absolute or 

qualified privilege to gather information for use of the City Council on a matter of public concern.   

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

The operative facts are presented in the attached Declarations of Defendants Daniel 

Omerza ("Omerza Decl." attached as Exhibit 1), Darren Bresee ("Bresee Decl," attached as 

Exhibit 2), and Steve Caria  ("Caria Decl.," attached as Exhibit 3) (sometimes, collectively, 

“Defendants’ Declarations”).  Further, even a cursory reading of Plaintiffs' complaint (on file 

herein) demonstrates that all of those claims arise from Defendant's First Amendment speech and 

petitioning activities.  As attested in the Defendants' Declarations, Plaintiffs’ emphasis in their 

complaint on the fact that the golf course they seek to develop into residential housing is not 

subject to the covenants for Defendants’ neighborhood is entirely beside the point.  The open 

space is subject to the area’s Master Development Plan, approved by the City in 1990, as well as 

the General Plan.  Defendants have merely exercised their constitutional rights to oppose the 

developers' efforts: 

1. Defendants are residents of the Queensridge subdivision.  Defendants’ 

Declarations, ¶ 2. 
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2. Adjacent to Queensridge is an open space that has previously been used as the site 

of the Badlands Golf Course (“Badlands”).  Badlands is not part of Queensridge and is not subject 

to the Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements for Queenridge.  Id., ¶ 3.  

3. However, both Queensridge and the land on which Badlands is situated are 

contained within the Peccole Ranch community, and both are subject to the terms of the Master 

Development Plan.    Id., ¶ 4. 

4. Plaintiffs in this action have stated their intention to construct residential units on 

the Badlands site.  Id., ¶ 5. 

5. To that end, Plaintiffs have sought and received approval from the City of Las 

Vegas ("City") for its plans to construct residential units at the Badlands site.  Id., ¶ 6. 

6. The City's approval of Plaintiffs' plans was challenged in a court proceeding in this 

Court, Case No. A-17-752344-J, before Judge Jim Crockett ("Binion Litigation").  Id., ¶ 7.  A 

copy of the transcript of the hearing in the Binion Litigation on this issue is included as Exhibit 

"A" to the concurrently filed Request for Judicial Notice (“Binion Transcipt”).

7. Judge Crockett made a ruling in which he determined that the City abused its 

discretion in approving Plaintiffs' application without first approving a major modification of the 

Master Development Plan.  Defendants’ Declarations, ¶ 8. 

8. When Judge Crockett's decision was made, the topic was the subject of news 

reports, which Defendants read, and discussion among people in the community.  Defendants’ 

Declarations, ¶ 9. 

9. At or near the time of Judge Crockett's decision, Defendants became aware that the 

decision was partially based on Judge Crockett’s determination that people who bought into 

Peccole Ranch relied upon what the master planning was.  Id.; Binion Transcript, at 5-10. 

10. As reflected in public records relating to the February 21, 2018 City Council 

meeting,1 Plaintiffs have since applied to the City Council to obtain a General Plan Amendment 

1 A copy of the City of Las Vegas "Agenda Summary Page – Planning" regarding the City 
Council Meeting of February 21, 2018 is included as Exhibit "B" to the concurrently filed 
Request for Judicial Notice.
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to change its parks/recreations/open space designation (that does not allow residential) to 

residential.    See also Defendants’ Declarations, ¶ 10. 

11. Defendants oppose a major modification of the Master Plan or an amendment to 

the General Plan with respect to Badlands.  Id., ¶ 11.  It is their hope that other people in the 

community who also oppose such changes would voice their opposition to the City.  Id.  For that 

purpose, Defendants Caria and Omerza participated in handing out forms of declarations to 

residents of Queensridge, within the Master Development Plan.  Coria Decl., ¶ 11; Omerza Decl., 

¶ 11.  Defendant Bresee signed on of the declarations.  Brezee Decl., ¶ 11. 

12. These declarations state that the undersigned purchased his or her Queensridge 

residence or lot "in reliance upon the fact that the open space/natural drainage system could not 

be developed pursuant to the City's Approval in 1990 of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan and 

subsequent formal actions designating the open space/natural drainage system in its General Plan 

as Parks Recreation – Open Space which land use designation does not permit the building of 

residential units."  Defendants Declarations, ¶ 12.  One version of the declarations further states 

that "[a]t the time of purchase, the undersigned paid a significant lot premium to the original 

developer as consideration for the open space/natural drainage system."  Id.

13. Defendants have no understanding that any of these statements are false.  First, the 

declarations do not contain any assertions by Caria or Omerza at all.  They only offered the 

declarations to residents for their consideration and to sign if they believed them to be accurate.    

Caria Decl., ¶ 13; Omerza Decl., ¶ 13.  Also, the statements in these declarations correctly 

summarize Defendants’ beliefs as to the Queensridge residents' reliance upon the terms of the 

Master Development Plan.  Defendants Declarations, ¶ 13.  Further, based on Defendants’ 

conversations with other Queensridge residents, many other residents have similar recollections.  

Id.  Finally, the residents’ recollections of relying upon the terms of the Master Development Plan 

is consistent with the conclusions of Judge Crockett.  Id.

14. Caria and Omerza participated in gathering these declarations to assist the Las 

Vegas City Council in its deliberations, to the extent it considers whether to approve an 

amendment to the General Plan.  Id., ¶ 15. 
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15. To the extent Defendants are able to gather such information and provide it to the 

Las Vegas City Council, they do so as citizens exercising their First Amendment rights to free 

speech and to petition the government guaranteed by the Constitution of the United States.  Caria 

Decl., ¶ 16; Omerza Decl., ¶ 16.   

III. ARGUMENT 

Both prongs of the anti-SLAPP statute weigh heavily against Plaintiffs.  In the 

circumstances presented here, Plaintiffs’ claims against Defendants plainly arise from 

Defendants’ good faith exercise of their First Amendment rights.  Plaintiffs cannot demonstrate 

with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on their claims. 

A. THE ANTI-SLAPP STATUTE APPLIES IN THIS CASE, BECAUSE 
PLAINTIFFS’ CLAIMS ARISE FROM DEFENDANTS’ EXERCISE OF 
THEIR FIRST AMENDMENT RIGHTS. 

Nevada’s anti-SLAPP statute is found at NRS 41.635, et. seq.  The statute creates a two-

prong analysis for the Court.   A person against whom an action is brought may file a “special 

motion to dismiss.”  NRS 41.660(1)(a).   The first prong places the burden on defendants to show 

that a claim “is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or 

the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern.”  NRS 41.660(3)(a).  

If a defendant meets that burden, the court then considers the second prong—whether the plaintiff 

has “demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim.”  NRS 

41.660(3)(b). 

NRS 41.637 defines the conduct that constitutes a good faith communication protected by 

Section 41.660: 

Good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or 
the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public 
concern means any: 

1. Communication that is aimed at procuring any governmental or 
electoral action, result or outcome; 

2. Communication of information or a complaint to a Legislator, 
officer or employee of the Federal Government, this state or a 
political subdivision of this state, regarding a matter reasonably of 
concern to the respective governmental entity; 

/ / / 
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3. Written or oral statement made in direct connection with an issue 
under consideration by a legislative, executive or judicial body, or 
any other official proceeding authorized by law; or 

4. Communication made in direct connection with an issue of 
public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum, 
which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood. 

NRS 41.637; see Shapiro v. Welt, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 6, 389 P.3d 262, 267 (2017) (a good faith 

communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech is a phrase that “is 

explicitly defined by statute in NRS 41.637”). 

In the recent case of Delucci v. Songer, 396 P.3d 826 (2017), the Nevada Supreme Court 

adopted the reasoning of City of Montebello v. Vasquez, 1 Cal.5th 409, 205 Cal. Rptr. 3d 499, 376 

P.3d 624 (2016), where the Supreme Court of California2 explained that this statutory definition 

(which is identical in Nevada and California) relieves the court of any need to determine whether 

the speech at issue under the anti-SLAPP statute directly implicates First Amendment rights: 

[C]ourts determining whether conduct is protected under the anti-
SLAPP statute look not to First Amendment law, but to the 
statutory definitions within [the] anti-SLAPP statutes.  And courts 
determining whether a cause of action arises from protected activity 
are not required to wrestle with difficult questions of constitutional 
law.  Thus, a defendant establishes that he or she has engaged in 
protected conduct when that defendant's conduct falls within one of 
the four categories defining [the statutory] phrase, “act in 
furtherance of a person's right of petition or free speech under the 
United States or California Constitution in connection with a public 
issue.” 

Delucci, 396 P.3d at 833 (quoting Vasquez, 376 P.3d at 633) (quotation marks and alterations in 

original omitted). 

Thus, under Nevada law, “a defendant's conduct constitutes ‘good faith communication in 

furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of 

public concern’ if it falls within one of the four categories enumerated in NRS 41.637 and ‘is 

truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood.’”  Delucci, at 833; see also Century 

2 The Nevada Supreme Court has made clear that California cases should be considered when 
interpreting the anti-SLAPP statute.  John v. Douglas Cnty. Sch. Dist., 125 Nev. 746, 756, 219 
P.3d 1276, 1283 (2009) (“we consider California case law because California's anti-SLAPP 
statute is similar in purpose and language to Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute.”).   
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Surety Co. v. Prince, 265 F. Supp. 3d 1182, 1188-89 (D. Nev. 2017) (a petition is made in good 

faith under NRS 41.637 if it is “truthful” or “made without knowledge of its falsehood”). 

Here, under Plaintiffs’ own factual allegations, the factual averments of Defendants’ 

Declarations, and judicially noticeable matters, there is no question that the first prong of the anti-

SLAPP statute is satisfied—Defendants’ conduct falls within the four categories of NRS 41.637 

and Defendants’ communications are truthful or made without knowledge of their falsehood. 

1. Defendants’ Conduct Falls Within the Four Categories of NRS 41.637. 

The conduct at the heart of Plaintiffs’ Complaint is Defendants’ efforts to gather 

declarations from fellow residents, for the purpose of providing information about the residents’ 

reliance on the Master Development Plan to the City Council, in hopes of influencing the 

Council’s decision as to whether to permit an amendment to the General Plan.  This constitutes a 

good faith communication on an issue of public concern as to each category included in NRS § 

41.637. 

First, Defendants’ activities consisted of communications with fellow residents, directly 

aimed at procuring a desired governmental or electoral action, result or outcome—namely, a vote 

against an amendment to the General Plan, thereby preventing Plaintiffs from altering Badlands’ 

designation as Parks Recreation – Open Space. 

Second, Defendants’ purpose in gathering the disputed declarations from their fellow 

residents is to provide those declarations to member of the City Council, a political subdivision of 

this state, for their consideration in deciding whether to condone an amendment to the General 

Plan, a matter reasonably of concern to that governmental entity. 

Third, Plaintiffs have already sought an Amendment to the General Plan, (see RJN, Ex. B)

(City of Las Vegas Agenda Summary Page from February 21, 2018 Las Vegas City Council 

meeting regarding request for amendment of General Plan to allow Plaintiffs’ development); see 

also Defendants’ Declarations, ¶ 10. Defendants’ communications to obtain the declarations at 

issue and provide them to the City Council thus constitute written or oral statement in connection 

with an issue already under consideration by that body. 

/ / / 
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Fourth, Defendants’ efforts in handing out declarations to other residents, then providing 

such declarations to members of the City Council, constitute communications on an issue of 

public interest made in a place open to the public or in a public forum. 

It should come as no surprise that the facts here align literally on all fours with the test of 

NRS 41.637, for the speech in question relates directly to an issue of public interest.  See Shapiro 

v. Welt, supra, 389 P.3d at 268 (defining an “issue of public interest” as one that (1) is not based 

on mere curiosity, (2) is of concern to a substantial number of people, (3) the challenged 

statements closely relate to the asserted public interest, (4) the challenged statements focus on the 

public interest and (5) is not strictly a matter of private concern) (citing Piping Rock Partners, 

Inc. v. David Lerner Assocs., Inc., 946 F. Supp. 2d 957, 968 (N.D. Cal. 2013), aff’d, 609 Fed. 

Appx. 497 (9th Cir. 2015)). The communications challenged in this action are precisely the type 

of political speech on a matter of public interest that is at the heart of the First Amendment, which 

NRS 41.637 is designed to safeguard from intimidation. 

2. Defendants’ Statements Are Truthful, Or Not Made with Knowledge 
of Any Falsehoods. 

The theme of Plaintiffs’ Complaint is that the statements in the declaration forms 

Defendants have provided to fellow residents are demonstrably false, which Plaintiffs' would 

presumably argue prevents a finding that they are good faith communications under NRS 41.637.  

There are several reasons such a contention would be wrong: 

First, two of the defendants’ conduct at issue is aimed at gathering declarations from other 

residents as to those residents’ reliance on the Master Development Plan.  Thus they are making 

no factual assertions; rather, they are simply collecting statements of facts made by their fellow 

residents.  In this respect, the instant case is comparable to Century Surety, supra, 265 F. Supp. 3d 

at 188-90, where the Court found that “good faith” encompasses a lawyer drafting a complaint 

repeating information provided by a potential witness, see 265 F. Supp. 3d at 1186 (defendant 

“argues that the allegations in the state complaint were supported by case law, the nature of the 

business, and a potential witness”), notwithstanding an opponent’s assertion that the allegation 

was contrary to established facts.  By the same token, Defendants have acted in good faith in 
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obtaining declarations stating the recollections of other witnesses. 

Second, even if the declarations were treated as factual statements by Defendants 

themselves, Plaintiffs cannot seriously contend that Defendants knew the statements in the 

declarations about reliance on the Master Development Plan are knowingly false, when Judge 

Crockett reached the very same conclusion about reliance in the Binion Litigation: 

[T]here was a phase 1 of Peccole Ranch, and Badlands, which was 
a golf course in phase 2 of Peccole Ranch.  Both golf courses were 
designed to be in a major flood zone and were designated as flood 
drainage and open space. 

At the time that was done 25 years ago or more the city mandated 
these designations to address the natural flooding problem and the 
open space necessary for master plan development. 

       *                 *               *  

The people who bought into this Peccole Ranch Master Plan 1 
and 2 did so in reliance upon what the master planning was.
They bought their homes, some of them made a very substantial 
investment, but no one making an insubstantial investment, and 
they moved into the neighborhood. 

Binion Transcript, at 6:1-9, 9:20-25 (emphasis added).3  Judge Crockett obviously reached these 

conclusions in good faith based on his review of the record in the Binion Litigation; thus, 

Plaintiffs' insistence that Defendants could not assert in good faith that some of the residents 

purchased their homes in reliance upon the terms of the Master Development Plan—including the 

designation of Badlands for open space and natural drainage—is untenable. 

Third, the Defendants have stated that the language of the declarations they have provided 

to their neighbors is consistent both with their own belief about the facts and with the 

recollections of other neighbors with whom they have spoken.  Defendants' Declarations, ¶¶ 13, 

14.  Plaintiffs cannot contradict this direct evidence, which is sufficient to meet Defendants' 

burden of showing that their communications in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to 

free speech were undertaken in good faith.

3 Remarkably, Plaintiffs themselves call the Court’s attention to the Binion Litigation, see 
Complaint, ¶ 29, but omit any mention of Judge Crockett’s ruling on this key issue, even though 
it predated Plaintiffs’ Complaint by over two months. 
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B. PLAINTIFFS’ CANNOT DEMONSTRATE A PROBABILITY OF 
PREVAILING ON ANY OF THEIR CLAIMS. 

Because Defendants have shown that the claims against them arise from good faith 

communications in furtherance of their right to petition or their right to free speech on an issue of 

public concern, the burden shifts to Plaintiffs to demonstrate with prima facie evidence a 

probability of prevailing on their claims.  NRS 41.660(3)(b).  Despite the fact that Plaintiffs carry 

that burden, Defendants will briefly address why Plaintiffs cannot meet that burden for two 

independent reasons.  First, on the face of their Complaint, Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim 

for relief.  Second, even if their allegations were otherwise sufficient, Plaintiffs' claims fail 

because the actions at issue here, gathering information from other residents or communicating 

directly with the City Council, are privileged as a matter of law.  

1. The Allegations of the Complaint Do Not Support a Claim for Relief.  

In addition to their request for injunctive relief, Plaintiffs’ Complaint asserts five 

substantive claims for relief, which fall into three categories: (i) intentional interference with 

prospective economic relations and negligent interference with prospective economic relations; 

(ii) conspiracy; and (iii) intentional misrepresentation and negligent misrepresentation.  As a 

matter of law, the factual allegations of the Complaint are not sufficient to support any of these 

claims. 

(a) Intentional or Negligent Interference 

“A plaintiff prevails on a claim for interference with prospective economic advantage by 

proving: (1) a prospective contractual relationship between the plaintiff and a third party; (2) 

knowledge by the defendant of the prospective relationship; (3) intent to harm the plaintiff by 

preventing the relationship; (4) the absence of privilege or justification by the defendant; and (5) 

actual harm to the plaintiff as a result of the defendant’s conduct.”  LT Intern. Ltd. v. Shuffle 

Master, Inc., 8 F. Supp. 3d 1238, 1248 (D. Nev. 2014).  The applicable privilege will be 

discussed below.  None of the remaining four elements is adequately alleged in the Complaint. 

First, Plaintiffs do not even attempt to identify the prospective contractual or economic 

relations at issue in this claim for relief.  Instead, they simply assert that some undefined 
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relationships with third parties would come about.  See Complaint, ¶ 41 (“Defendants … knew, or 

should have known, that Plaintiffs would be developing the Land with third parties”).  It is 

impossible for the Court to evaluate these nebulous allegations, or for Defendants to respond to 

them, where Plaintiffs have not even begun to identify what potential transactions are at issue. 

Second, Defendants can hardly be charged with knowledge of potential economic 

relationships that Plaintiffs are not even able to identify in their own Complaint. 

Third, Plaintiffs have alleged no facts that might support a finding that Defendants acted 

with intent to harm Plaintiffs, as opposed to the intent to maintain the value and security of 

Defendants’ own property.  See Wichinsky v. Mosa, 109 Nev. 84, 44, 847 P.2d 727, 730 (1993) 

(holding interference claim failed for lack of evidence of intent to harm plaintiff). 

Finally, Plaintiffs cannot identify any actual harm resulting from the unspecified 

interference they imagine.  They make conclusory allegations that damage occurred, Complaint, 

¶¶ 46, 55, but these allegations are meaningless in the absence of any factual allegations to 

explain how such purported damage has taken place. 

(b) Conspiracy 

“In Nevada, an actionable civil conspiracy is defined as a combination of two or more 

persons, who by some concerted action, intend to accomplish some unlawful objective for the 

purpose of harming another which results in damage.”  Flowers v. Carville, 266 F. Supp. 2d 

1245, 1249 (D. Nev. 2003) (citations omitted).  Yet the Complaint entirely fails to identify any 

such “unlawful objective.”  To the contrary, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants’ objective was to 

“influence and/or pressure third-parties, including officials within the City of Las Vegas.”  

Complaint, ¶ 57.  But that is no “unlawful objective”; it is the very function of the political 

process, to influence officials in the exercise of their governmental authority.  Similarly, for 

Defendants “to object to Plaintiffs’ development” or “to use their political influence,” id., ¶ 60, 

does not in any way amount to an “unlawful objective.”  Plaintiffs state that Defendants did these 

things “improperly,” but this is a mere conclusion, divorced of any supporting allegations of fact.  

The only factual support Plaintiffs even attempt to advance for their conspiracy claim is the 

assertion that the declarations Defendants obtained from other residents were false.  But this is 
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untenable as a matter of law for the same reasons recited above.  Moreover, the declarations are 

consistent with this Court’s ruling in the Binion Litigation, and thus cannot be construed as 

deliberately false.  Plaintiffs have not articulated an “unlawful objective” that might support a 

claim conspiracy. 

Neither have Plaintiffs alleged any facts to support the element of damages resulting from 

the purported conspiracy.  They made a conclusory assertion that damages have occurred, 

Complaint, ¶ 61, but this is devoid of any factual allegations that conceivably might support a 

finding of actual damages. 

(c) Intentional or Negligent Misrepresentation 

Finally, Plaintiffs’ Complaint does not allege any of the elements for a claim for 

intentional misrepresentation or negligent misrepresentation.  A misrepresentation claim in 

Nevada “is established by three factors: (1) a false representation that is made with either 

knowledge or belief that it is false or without a sufficient foundation, (2) an intent to induce 

another’s reliance, and (3) damages that result from this reliance.”  Nelson v. Heer, 123 Nev. 217, 

225-26, 163 P.3d 420, 426 (2007); see also Wild Game Ng, LLC v. IGT, 2015 WL 7575352, *1 

(Nev. Nov. 24, 2015) (“instead of deceitful intent, negligent misrepresentation arises when one 

fails to exercise reasonable care in ascertaining the truth”). 

None of those factors is adequately alleged here.  Plaintiffs again assert that the facts in 

the declarations at issue are false.  But, they are entirely consistent with this Court’s ruling in the 

Binion Litigation.  Nowhere do Plaintiffs allege that anyone has relied on these declarations.  

Plaintiffs do assert in conclusory fashion that they suffered damages from the declarations, 

Complaint, ¶¶ 64, 68, but there are no factual allegations to support that conclusion.  Plaintiffs 

have not alleged facts to support these claims for relief. 

2. Defendants' Efforts in Gathering Information for an Anticipated 
Proceeding Are Privileged. 

Even if Plaintiffs had adequately alleged facts to support their specific claims for relief, 

Defendants could not be liable to Plaintiffs for the solicitation of the Declarations, of for any 

statements contained in the Declarations, because they are absolutely privileged, or at a 
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minimum, subject to an applicable qualified privilege. 

(a) Absolute Privilege 

Nevada recognizes "the long-standing common law rule that communications uttered or 

published in the course of judicial proceedings are absolutely privileged so long as they are in 

some way pertinent to the subject matter of the controversy."   Circus Circus Hotels, Inc. v. 

Witherspoon, 99 Nev. 56, 60, 657 P.2d 101 (1983).  This rule includes "statements made in the 

course of quasi-judicial proceedings …."  Knox v. Dick, 99 Nev. 514, 518, 665 P.2d 267 

(1983)(citation omitted); see also Circus Circus, 99 Nev. at 61 ("the absolute privilege attached to 

judicial proceedings has been extended to quasi-judicial proceedings before executive officers, 

boards, and commissions….")(citations omitted).    

Under the rule, statements in letters may be absolutely privileged (Richards v. Conklin, 94 

Nev. 84, 85, 575 P.2d 588, 589 (1978)), and a statement at issue does not even have to be made 

during any actual proceedings (see Fink v. Oshins, 118 Nev. 428, 433, 49 P.3d 640 (2002)("the 

privilege applies not only to communications made during actual judicial proceedings, but also to 

'communications preliminary to a proposed judicial proceeding.'")(footnote citation omitted)).  To 

the extent that any doubts regarding privilege exist, they should be resolved in favor of 

application.   See Clark County Sch. Dist. v. Virtual Educ. Software, Inc., 125 Nev. 374, 382, 213 

P.3d 496 (2009) (emphasis added) (citation omitted)(noting that "because the scope of the 

absolute privilege is broad, a court determining whether the privilege applies should resolve any 

doubt in favor of a broad application.").   

 The Nevada Supreme Court has explained when an administrative action constitutes a 

"quasi-judicial" proceeding.  State ex rel. Bd. of Parole Comm'rs v. Morrow, 127 Nev. 265, 273, 

255 P.3d 224 (2011),    The judicial function test "is a means of determining whether an 

administrative proceeding is quasi-judicial by examining the hearing entity's function.[]" Id. at 

273 (citation omitted)(emphasis added).   The Court explained: 

If the hearing entity's function is judicial in nature, its acts qualify 
as quasi-judicial. [ ]  In determining whether  a hearing entity's 
function is judicial, other jurisdictions consider whether the hearing 
entity has authority to: '"(1) exercise judgment and discretion; (2) 
hear and determine or to ascertain facts and decide; (3) make 
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binding orders and judgments; (4) affect the personal property 
rights of private persons; (5) examine witnesses and hearing the 
litigation of the issues on a hearing; and (6) enforce decisions or 
impose penalties.'" Craig v. Stafford Constr., Inc., 271 Conn. 78, 
856 A.2d 372 (Conn. 2004)(quoting Kelley v. Bonney, 221 Conn. 
549, 606 A.2d 693, 703 (Conn. 1992), and considering, also, 
whether a sound policy basis exists for protecting the hearing entity 
from suit). [ ]  These factors are not exclusive, and determining 
whether a proceeding is quasi-judicial is an imprecise exercise 
because many different types of entities perform judicial functions." 
[citation]   We have previously used the judicial function test in this 
state to determine whether entities act in a quasi-judicial manner 
when performing their administrative duties,[ ] and we now 
expressly adopt the judicial function test for doing so in the future. 

Id. at 273-74.   

In the instant case, any statements in the declarations are subject to an absolute privilege 

because Plaintiffs had already initiated the application process for the amendment to the General 

Plan, and the proceedings before the City Council relating to the application are quasi-judicial in 

nature.  See UDC 19.16.030.   The factors discussed in Morrow are instructive, and the procedure 

set forth in Unified Development Code 19.16.030 (addressing General Plan Amendment) satisfies 

the test set forth in Morrow, 127 Nev. at 273-74.   

First, in deciding land use matters, the City Council exercises judgment and discretion, 

and hears and determines facts before rendering a decision.  See Stratosphere Gaming Corp. v. 

City of Las Vegas, 120 Nev. 523, 528 (2004)(determining that the process under the Las Vegas 

Municipal Code for City Council to approve plaintiff's proposed development of the property 

requires the City Council to "consider a number of factors and to exercise its discretion in 

reaching a decision.").   Indeed, Section 19.16.030 expressly provides that a City Council 

decision is made after a hearing, and the City Council must consider "facts presented at the public 

hearing" before making a decision on the amendment.  See UDC 19.16.030(H)(1),(2).  In fact, 

there are a number of specific determinations that the City Council must make before approving a 

proposed General Plan Amendment.   UDC 19.16.030(I)(1)-(4).4

4 The City Council must determine that "the density and intensity of the proposed General Plan 
Amendment is compatible with the existing adjacent land use designations", the "zoning 
designations allowed by the proposed amendment will be compatible with the existing adjacent 
land uses or zoning districts", "[t]here are adequate transportation, recreation, utility, and other 
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The City Council has the authority to "may make and adopt all ordinances, resolutions 

and orders… which are necessary for the municipal government, the management of the affairs 

of the City and the execution of all of the powers which are vested in the City."  Las Vegas City 

Charter § 2.090(1)(emphasis added).  In accordance, the General Plan amendment process results 

in a binding written decision containing "reasons for the decision" that is provided to the 

"applicant, agent or both" and the notice is formally filed with the City Clerk.  UDC 

19.16.030(H)(3).  There is also no question that the decision by the City Council would affect the 

"personal property and rights of private persons."  Indeed, at a minimum, the dispute at issue 

implicates the way in which Plaintiffs can use their property.  Additionally, as a general matter, 

the City Council has the power to examine and hear witnesses to assist the City Council in 

making its decisions.  In fact, the City Council has authority to "[o]rder the attendance of 

witnesses and the production of all documents which relate to any business before the City 

Council" and the "City Council … may apply to the clerk of the district court for a subpoena 

which commands the attendance of that person before the City Council."  Las Vegas City Charter 

§ 2.080(1)(d), (2)(a).  Finally, the City, including the City Council, has the ability to enforce 

decisions or impose penalties.5  Based on the foregoing, the proceedings of the City Council 

relating to Plaintiffs' pending application for amendment of the General Plan are quasi-judicial.   

The fact that the statements in the Declaration were solicited or gathered prior to the 

public hearing of the City Council does not undermine any finding that the statements therein are 

absolutely privileged.  See Fink, 118 Nev. at 433 ("the privilege applies … to 'communications 

preliminary to a proposed judicial proceeding.'").  Here, the statements were collected by 

facilities to accommodate the uses and densities permitted by the proposed General Plan 
designation" and "[t]he propose amendment conforms to other applicable adopted plans and 
policies."  UDC 19.16.030(I)(1)-(4).  
5For example, the Unified Development Code provides that "[e]nforcement of the provisions of 
this Title shall be pursued in order to provide for its effective administration, to ensure 
compliance with any condition of development approval, to promote the City's planning efforts, 
and to protect the public health, safety and general welfare" and that the "provisions of this Title, 
and any conditions of development approval which have been imposed thereunder, may be 
enforced by the Director; the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department; and any other City of 
Las Vegas officer and employee designated to do so."  UDC 19.00.090(A)(1), (2).   
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individuals with a significant interest in the outcome of the application for the purpose of 

providing input for consideration by the City Council in determining whether to approve 

Plaintiffs' application for amendment of the General Plan, so there is a direct relevance to 

Plaintiffs' pending application and the related City Council proceedings.  Indeed, the Declaration 

was specifically addressed to the "City of Las Vegas".  See Complaint, Ex. 1.     

(b) Qualified Privilege 

Even if absolute privilege did not apply, Defendants cannot be liable to Plaintiffs because 

any statements in the Declarations are also subject to a qualified or conditional privilege.  Under 

Nevada law, "[a] qualified or conditional privilege exists where a defamatory statement is made 

in good faith on any subject matter in which the person communicating has an interest, or in 

reference to which he has a right or duty, if it is made to a person with a corresponding interest or 

duty."  Circus Circus, 99 Nev. at 62 (citations omitted).  Where any such privilege applies, 

alleged defamatory statements "are not actionable unless the privilege is abused by publishing the 

statements with malice."  Bank of America Nevada v. Bordeau, 115 Nev. 263, 267, 982 P.2d 474 

(1999) (citations omitted).  "[P]laintiff must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the 

defendant abused the privilege by publishing the defamatory communication with actual malice. [ 

] Actual malice is a stringent standard that is proven by demonstrating that "a statement is 

published with knowledge that it was false or with reckless disregard for its veracity."  Pope v. 

Motel 6, 121 Nev. 307, 317, 114 P.3d 277 (2005).   

Defendants oppose the amendment of the General Plan at issue and hoped that other 

people in the community who also oppose the amendment would voice their opposition to the 

City to impact the outcome of Plaintiffs' application.   As such, Caria and Omerza provided the 

declarations to some of the residents of Queensridge, asking them to review and sign if they 

purchased their property in reliance on the Master Development Plan and "subsequent formal 

actions designating the open space/natural drainage system in its General Plan as Parks 

Recreation – Open Space which land use designation does not permit the building of residential 

units."  Complaint, Ex. 1.  Bresee merely signed one of the declarations.  These declarations were 

for the purpose of protecting their own interests and communicating their views to the City.   
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As demonstrated above and in Defendants’ Declarations, there was no malice involved 

whatsoever.  Defendants did not have any belief that they were publishing any false statements, 

nor did they have reckless disregard for the veracity of any statements.  Defendants were only 

offering the declarations to residents for their consideration and to sign if they believed them to be 

accurate.  Moreover, the statements in the Declaration correctly summarized Defendants' beliefs.  

Finally, the statements were consistent with the conclusions of Judge Crockett,  in which he 

determined that the residents of the community relied on the master plan when they purchased 

their property.  

Therefore, the statements made in the declarations, even if they assert facts by each of the 

Defendants, are privileged, as a matter of law. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For all of the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs' claims should be dismissed and Defendants' 

should be awarded their fees, costs, and damages, according to proof. 

DATED this 13th day of April, 2018. 
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP

By: /s/ Mitchell J. Langberg________________
MITCHELL J. LANGBERG, ESQ. Bar No. 10118 
mlangberg@bhfs.com
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP 
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, NV 89106 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:   702.382.8135 

Attorneys For Defendants Daniel Omerza, Darren Bresee,
and Steve Caria 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP, 

and pursuant to NRCP 5(b), EDCR 8.05, Administrative Order 14-2, and NEFCR 9, I caused a 

true and correct copy of the foregoing DEFENDANTS’ SPECIAL MOTION TO DISMISS 

(ANTI-SLAPP MOTION) PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO NRS §41.635 ET. 

SEQ. be submitted electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial District Court 

via the Court's Electronic Filing System on the 13th day of April, 2018, to the following: 

James J. Jimmerson, Esq. 
The Jimmerson Law Firm, P.C. 
415 South Sixth Street, Suite 100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Email: ks@jimmersonlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
FORE STARS, LTD., 180 LAND CO., LLC;  

            and  SEVENTY ACRES, LLC 

/s/ DeEtra Crudup
an employee of Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP 

136



EXHIBIT 1 
         Declaration of Daniel Omerza

137



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Mitchell J. Langberg, Esq., Bar No. 10118 
mlangberg@bhfs.com 
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER & SCHRECK LLP 
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89106 
Telephone: 702.382.2101 
Facsimile: 702.382.8135 

Attorneys For Defendants 
DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE, and STEVE CARIA 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

FORE STARS, LTD., a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company; 180 LAND CO., LLC, 
a Nevada Limited Liability Company; 
SEVENTY ACRES, LLC, a Nevada 
Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE, 
STEVE CARIA, and DOES 1 THROUGH 
1000, 

Defendants. 
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DECLARATION OF DANIEL OMERZA 

I, Daniel Omerza, hereby declare as follows: 

1. I am a Defendant in this action. I make this declaration of my own personal 

knowledge and, if called upon to do so as a witness, could and would testify competently hereto. 

2. I reside within the Queensridge Common Interest Community, a master-planned 

community in Clark County, Nevada ("Queensridge"). 

3. Adjacent to Queensridge is an open space that has previously been used as the site 

of the Badlands Golf Course ("Badlands"). My understanding and belief is that Badlands is not 

part of Queensridge and is not subject to the Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements 

for Queenridge. 

4. However, it is also my understanding and belief that both Queensridge and the 

land on which Badlands is situated are contained within Peccole Ranch, and both are subject to 

the terms of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan. 

5. It is my understanding that the Plaintiffs in this action wish to construct residential 

units on the Badlands site. 

6. I am aware that Plaintiffs sought and received approval from the City of Las Vegas 

("City") for its plans to construct residential units at the Badlands site. 

7. I am further aware that the City's approval of Plaintiffs' plans was challenged in a 

court proceeding before Judge Jim Crockett ("Binion Litigation"). 

8. It is my understanding that Judge Crockett made a ruling in which he determined 

that the City abused its discretion in approving Plaintiffs' application without first approving a 

major modification of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan. 

9. When Judge Crockett's decision was made, the topic was the subject of news 

reports, which I read, and discussion among people in the community. At or near the time of 

Judge Crockett's decision, I became aware that the decision was partially based on his 

determination that people who bought into Peccole Ranch relied upon what the master planning 

was. 
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10. It is my understanding that the developer who owns Badlands has applied for a 

change to the General Plan in order to allow for its planned development. 

11. I oppose any changes with respect to Badlands. It is my hope that other people in 

the community who also oppose any such changes would voice their opposition to the City. To 

that end, I participated in handing out forms of declarations to residents of Queensridge, within 

the Peccole Ranch Master Plan. 

12. The declarations (which are attached to Plaintiff's complaint) state that the 

signatory purchased his or her Queensridge residence or lot "in reliance upon the fact that the 

open space/natural drainage system could not be developed pursuant to the City's Approval in 

1990 of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan and subsequent formal actions designating the open 

space/natural drainage system in its General Plan as Parks Recreation — Open Space which land 

use designation does not permit the building of residential units." One version of the declarations 

further states that "[a]t the time of purchase, the undersigned paid a significant lot premium to the 

original developer as consideration for the open space/natural drainage system." 

13. I have no understanding that any of these statements are false. First, I was not 

making any assertion at all. I was only offering the declarations to residents for their 

consideration and to sign if they believed them to be accurate. Also, the statements in these 

declarations correctly summarize my beliefs as to the Queensridge residents' reliance upon the 

terms of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan. Further, based on my conversations with other 

Queensridge residents, many other residents have similar beliefs. Finally, this is consistent with 

the conclusions of Judge Crockett. 

14. I have invited Queensridge residents to sign the declarations, to the extent that the 

declarations correctly summarize their individual recollections. 

15. I participated in obtaining these declarations to assist the Las Vegas city council in 

its deliberations, to the extent it considers whether to approve any changes requested by the 

developer. 

16. Further, to the extent I am able to gather such information and arrange for it to edit 

provided to the Las Vegas City Council, I seek to do so as a citizen exercising his First 
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Amendment rights to free speech and to petition the government guaranteed by the Constitution 

of the United States. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that the foregoing 

is true and correct. Executed on this /3  day of April, 2018, at  W, 4}-c5. , Nevada 
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DECLARATION OF DARREN BRESEE 

I, Darren Bresee, hereby declare as follows: 

1. I am a Defendant in this action. I make this declaration of my own personal knowledge 

and, if called upon to do so as a witness, could and would testify competently hereto. 

2. I reside within the Queensridge Common Interest Community, a master-planned 

community in Clark County, Nevada ("Queensridge"). 

3. Adjacent to Queensridge is an open space that has previously been used as the site of the 

Badlands Golf Course ("Badlands"). My understanding and belief is that Badlands is not part of 

Queensridge and is not subject to the Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements for 

Queem-idge. 

4. However, it is also my understanding and belief that both Queensridge and the land on 

which Badlands is situated are contained within Peccole Ranch, and both are subject to the terms 

of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan. 

5. It is my understanding that the Plaintiffs in this action wish to construct residential units 

on the Badlands site. 

6. I am aware that Plaintiffs sought and received approval from the City of Las Vegas 

("City") for its plans to construct residential units at the Badlands site. 

7. I am further aware that the City's approval of Plaintiffs' plans was challenged in a court 

proceeding before Judge Jim Crockett ("Binion Litigation"). 

8. It is my understanding that Judge Crockett made a ruling in which he determined that the 

City abused its discretion in approving Plaintiffs' application without first approving a major 

modification of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan. 

9. When Judge Crockett's decision was made, the topic was the subject of news reports, 

which I read, and discussion among people in the community. At or near the time of Judge 

Crockett's decision, I became aware that the decision was partially based on his determination 

that people who bought into Peccole Ranch relied upon what the master planning was. 
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10. It is my understanding that the developer who owns Badlands has applied for a change to 

the General Plan in order to allow for its planned development. 

11. I oppose any changes with respect to Badlands. To that end, when I received a form 

declaration that accurately reflected my recollection and my opinions, I signed it. 

12. The declaration (the form of which is attached to Plaintiff's complaint) states that I 

purchased my Queensridge residence or lot "in reliance upon the fact that the open space/natural 

drainage system could not be developed pursuant to the City's Approval in 1990 of the Peccole 

Ranch Master Plan and subsequent formal actions designating the open space/natural drainage 

system in its General Plan as Parks Recreation — Open Space which land use designation does not 

permit the building of residential units." It also says that "[alt the time of purchase, the 

undersigned paid a significant lot premium to the original developer as consideration for the open 

space/natural drainage system." 

13. I have no understanding that any of these statements are false. The statements correctly 

summarize my beliefs. Further, based on my conversations with other Queensridge residents, 

many other residents have similar beliefs. Finally, this is consistent with the conclusions of Judge 

Crockett. 

14. I signed the declaration to assist the Las Vegas city council in its deliberations, to the 

extent it considers whether to approve any changes requested by the developer. 

15. Further, I was communicating with the Las Vegas city council in exercise of my First 

Amendment rights to free speech and to petition the government guaranteed by the Constitution 

of the United States. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that the foregoing 

is true and correct. Executed on this  (3 day of April, 2018, at  /023°  , Nevada 

DARREN BRESEE 
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DECLARATION OF STEVE CARIA 

I, Steve Caria, hereby declare as follows: 

1. I am a Defendant in this action. I make this declaration of my own personal 

knowledge and, if called upon to do so as a witness, could and would testify competently hereto. 

2. I reside within the Queensridge Common Interest Community, a master-planned 

community in Clark County, Nevada ("Queensridge"). 

3. Adjacent to Queensridge is an open space that has previously been used as the site 

of the Badlands Golf Course ("Badlands"). My understanding and belief is that Badlands is not 

part of Queensridge and is not subject to the Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Easements 

for Queenridge. 

4. However, it is also my understanding and belief that both Queensridge and the 

land on which Badlands is situated are contained within Peccole Ranch, and both are subject to 

the terms of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan. 

5. It is my understanding that the Plaintiffs in this action wish to construct residential 

units on the Badlands site. 

6. I am aware that Plaintiffs sought and received approval from the City of Las Vegas 

("City") for its plans to construct residential units at the Badlands site. 

7. I am further aware that the City's approval of Plaintiffs' plans was challenged in a 

court proceeding before Judge Jim Crockett ("Binion Litigation"). 

8. It is my understanding that Judge Crockett made a ruling in which he determined 

that the City abused its discretion in approving Plaintiffs' application without first approving a 

major modification of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan. 

9. When Judge Crockett's decision was made, the topic was the subject of news 

reports, which I read, and discussion among people in the community. At or near the time of 

Judge Crockett's decision, I became aware that the decision was partially based on his 

determination that people who bought into Peccole Ranch relied upon what the master planning 

was. 
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I, Steve Caria, hereby declare as follows: 

l. I am a Defendant in this action. I make this declaration of my own personal 

4 knowledge and, if called upon to do so as a witness, could and would testify competently hereto. 

5 2. I reside within the Queensridge Common Interest Community, a master-planned 
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However, it is also my understanding and belief that both Queensridge and the 
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the terms of the Pecco le Ranch Master Plan. 

5. It is my understanding that the Plaintiffs in this action wish to construct residential 

units on the Badlands site. 

I am aware that Plaintiffs sought and received approval from the City of Las Vegas 

17 ("City") for its plans to construct residential units at the Badlands site. 
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10. It is my understanding that the developer who owns Badlands has applied for a 

change to the General Plan in order to allow for its planned development. 

11. I oppose any changes with respect to Badlands. It is my hope that other people in 

the community who also oppose any such changes would voice their opposition to the City. To 

that end, I participated in handing out forms of declarations to residents of Queensridge, within 

the Peccole Ranch Master Plan. 

12. The declarations (which are attached to Plaintiff's complaint) state that the 

signatory purchased his or her Queensridge residence or lot "in reliance upon the fact that the 

open space/natural drainage system could not be developed pursuant to the City's Approval in 

1990 of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan and subsequent formal actions designating the open 

space/natural drainage system in its General Plan as Parks Recreation — Open Space which land 

use designation does not permit the building of residential units." One version of the declarations 

further states that "[a]t the time of purchase, the undersigned paid a significant lot premium to the 

original developer as consideration for the open space/natural drainage system." 

13. I have no understanding that any of these statements are false. First, I was not 

making any assertion at all. I was only offering the declarations to residents for their 

consideration and to sign if they believed them to be accurate. Also, the statements in these 

declarations correctly summarize my beliefs as to the Queensridge residents' reliance upon the 

terms of the Peccole Ranch Master Plan. Further, based on my conversations with other 

Queensridge residents, many other residents have similar beliefs. Finally, this is consistent with 

the conclusions of Judge Crockett. 

14. I have invited Queensridge residents to sign the declarations, to the extent that the 

declarations correctly summarize their individual recollections. 

15. I participated in obtaining these declarations to assist the Las Vegas city council in 

its deliberations, to the extent it considers whether to approve any changes requested by the 

developer. 

16. Further, to the extent I am able to gather such information and arrange for it to edit 

provided to the Las Vegas City Council, I seek to do so as a citizen exercising his First 
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Amendment rights to free speech and to petition the government guaranteed by the Constitution 

of the United States. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that the foregoing 
.,iq 

is true and correct. Executed on this/9 day of April, 2018, at  .445 66AS. , Nevada 
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Amendment rights to free speech and to petition the government guaranteed by the Constitution 

of the United States. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that the foregoing 
ft . ,/ 

is true and correct. Executed on this/ 3- day of April, 2018, at 4 YEGti S: , Nevada 
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Attorneys For Defendants 
DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE,  
and STEVE CARIA 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

FORE STARS, LTD., a Nevada Limited 
Liability Company; 180 LAND CO., LLC, 
a Nevada Limited Liability Company; 
SEVENTY ACRES, LLC, a Nevada 
Limited Liability Company, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE, 
STEVE CARIA, and DOES 1 THROUGH 
1000, 

Defendants. 

CASE NO.  A-18-771224-C 

DEFENDANTS’ REQUEST FOR 
JUDICIAL NOTICE IN SUPPORT OF (1) 
DEFENDANTS' SPECIAL MOTION TO 
DISMISS (ANTI-SLAPP MOTION) 
PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT PURSUANT 
TO NRS §41.635 ET. SEQ. AND (2) 
DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS 
PURSUANT TO NRCP 12(b)(5) 

Pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes Section 47.130 and 47.150, Defendants Daniel 

Omerza, Darren Bresee, and Steve Caria, hereby  request that this Court take judicial notice of the 

following documents in support of their Special Motion to Dismiss (Anti-Slapp Motion) 

Plaintiffs' Complaint Pursuant to NRS § 41.635, et seq. and Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 

12(b)(5).    

(1):  The Reporter' Transcript of Proceedings  dated January 11, 2018, in the matter Jack 

Binion v. Las Vegas City of, et al., No. A-17-752344-J, Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark 

County, Nevada, attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 

Case Number: A-18-771224-C

Electronically Filed
4/13/2018 5:18 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

151



B
R

O
W

N
S

T
E

IN
 H

Y
A

T
T

 F
A

R
B

E
R

 S
C

H
R

E
C

K
,L

L
P

10
0 

N
or

th
 C

it
y 

P
ar

kw
ay

, 
S

ui
te

 1
60

0

L
as

 V
eg

as
, 

N
V

 8
91

06
-4

61
4

70
2.

38
2.

21
01

2

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28 

(2) City of Las Vegas, "Agenda Summary Page – Planning" regarding City Council 

Meeting of February 21, 2018 (Agenda Item No. 122), publicly available at 

http://www5.lasvegasnevada.gov/sirepub/view.aspx?cabinet=published_meetings&fileid=151114

13, attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

Judicial notice of the foregoing is warranted.  See NRS 47.130(2)(b)(providing that a fact 

that is "[c]apable of accurate and ready determination by resort to resources whose accuracy 

cannot reasonably be questioned" is judicially noticeable); see also Breliant v. Preferred Equities 

Corp., 109 Nev. 842, 847, 858 P.2d 1258, 1261 (1993)(court may consider matters of public 

record in ruling on a motion to dismiss)(citations omitted).    

DATED this 13th day of April, 2018. 

BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP 

BY: /s/ Mitchell J. Langberg
MITCHELL J. LANGBERG, ESQ., Bar No. 10118 
mlangberg@bhfs.comLAURA B. LANGBERG, ESQ.,  
BROWNSTEIN HYATT FARBER SCHRECK, LLP 
100 North City Parkway, Suite 1600 
Las Vegas, NV  89106-4614 
Telephone:  702.382.2101 
Facsimile:   702.382.8135 

   Counsel for Defendants 
   DANIEL OMERZA, DARREN BRESEE, and 
   STEVE CARIA
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP, 

and pursuant to NRCP 5(b), EDCR 8.05, Administrative Order 14-2, and NEFCR 9, I caused a 

true and correct copy of the foregoing DEFENDANTS’ REQUEST FOR JUDICIAL NOTICE 

IN SUPPORT OF (1) DEFENDANTS' SPECIAL MOTION TO DISMISS (ANTI-SLAPP 

MOTION) PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT PURSUANT TO NRS §41.635 ET. SEQ. AND (2) 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS PURSUANT TO NRCP 12(b)(5) be submitted 

electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial District Court via the Court's 

Electronic Filing System on the 13th day of April, 2018, to the following: 

James J. Jimmerson, Esq. 
The Jimmerson Law Firm, P.C. 
415 South Sixth Street, Suite 100 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Email: ks@jimmersonlawfirm.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

/s/ DeEtra Crudup
an employee of Brownstein Hyatt Farber Schreck, LLP 
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IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JACK BINION, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. Case No.A-17-752344-J 
Dept. No. 24 

LAS VEGAS CITY OF, ET AL,) 
) 

Defendants. ) 

HEARING 

Before the Honorable Jim Crockett 

Thursday, January 11, 2018, 9:00 a.m. 

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings 

REPORTED BY: 

BILL NELSON, RMR, CCR #191 
CERTIFIED COURT REPORTER 

BILL NELSON & ASSOCIATES 
Certified Court Reporters 

702.360.4677 
Fax 702.360.2844 
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APPEARANCES: 

For the Plaintiff: 

For the Defendants: 

Todd Bice, Esq. 
Dustun Holmes, Esq. 

Christopher Kaempfer, Esq. 
James Smyth, Esq. 
Stephanie Allen, Esq. 
Philip Byrnes, Esq. 
Todd Davis, Esq. 
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Thursday, January 11, 2018 

City Of. 

reported. 

Plaintiff. 

Las Vegas. 

THE COURT: 

* * * 

Jack Binion versus Las Vegas 

Please tell me that somebody ask this be 

THE COURT REPORTER: 

MR. BICE: 

Honor, Plaintiffs will. 

the Plaintiff. 

MR. HOLMES: 

MR. KAEMPFER: 

MR. BYRNES: 

THE COURT: 

Have a seat. 

MR. KAEMPFER: 

* * 

No, Judge. 

We'll make that request, Your 

Todd Bice and Dustun Holmes on behalf of 

Dustun Holmes on behalf of 

K-a-e-m-p-f-e-r, my father was a Court Reporter, on 

behalf of Defendant Seventy Acres, together with 

James Smyth from our firm and Stephanie Allen. 

And we have in-house counsel Todd Davis on 

behalf of Seventy Acres. 

Chris Kaempfer, 

Phil Byrnes for the City Of 

All right. 

Your Honor, if I could, also 

Yohan Lowie and Vickie DeHart are the ownership on 
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behalf of Seventy Acres are here in court. 

THE COURT: 

MR. KAEMPFER: 

THE COURT: 

So I have read and reread these briefs 

several times now. 

Mr. Lowie and who? 

Vickie DeHart. 

Okay. 

I've read them a minimum of two 

times, and in some cases three times. 

The matter has been very competently and 

comprehensively briefed by counsel for the 

Petitioners, for Seventy Acres, and for the City of 

Las Vegas, and I appreciate that. 

I want to tell you what my inclination is, 

and I will then reference some of the things from the 

briefs that I think would help to explain what my 

inclination is and why, and then I will invite 

counsel to make any addition oral argument they wish 

to make that isn't a reiteration of what is in your 

briefs. 

Please be comfortable knowing that I have 

read your briefs. They are heavily highlighted and 

annotated, and I have referred to the exhibits you 

have directed me to. I realize not all 23,000 pages 

were included, but I appreciate that too, there's no 

need to include things that don't specifically 

support and oppose a point. 
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So I've looked at the -- although I didn't 

have the original unabridged set of City's exhibits 

first presented in the black binder, then I got the 

other set in the white binder, and I've had a chance 

to review records, and I'll call it testimony, even 

though it's unsworn, of people who spoke at the 

various hearings. 

I find the Petitioners' arguments 

persuasive. 

I think that the city failed to follow 

LVMC, Las Vegas Municipal Court, Rule 19.040, and 

staff recommendations that a major modification 

needed to be approved in order for the application to 

be approved. I realize that there were 23,000 pages 

of information, but the city and Seventy Acres repeat 

this many times, but the mere volume or number of 

pages is really not something that necessarily 

carries the day. 

The question is, what do they say? 

There is For the Court Reporter's 

benefit I'll say, there is reference to Peccole Ranch 

Master Plan and Peccole's P-e-c-c-o-1-e, and there's 

a reference to Peccole Ranch Master Plan number II, 

Roman numeral two. 

Historically this is a project that had -- 

BILL NELSON & ASSOCIATES 
Certified Court Reporters 

702.360.4677 
Fax 702.360.2844 

5 

5 of 45

159



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

there was a phase 1 of Peccale Ranch, and Badlands, 

which was a golf course in phase 2 of Peccale Ranch. 

Both golf courses were designed to be in a major 

flood zone and were designated as flood drainage and 

open space. 

At the time that was done 25 years ago or 

more the city mandated these designations to address 

the natural flood problem and the open space 

necessary for master plan development. 

Phase 2 of the Peccale Ranch Master Plan 

was approved on April 4th, 1990. That specifically 

defined the Badlands 18-hole golf course as flood 

drainage, in addition to satisfying the the required 

open space necessitated by the city for master 

planned development. 

Keep in mind that I've lived here since 

1952, 1-9-5-2, so I am familiar with how things 

looked before master planning became the way things 

are done here in the Vegas Valley. 

The phase 2 golf course open space 

designation was for 211.6 acres. 

The William Peccole family knew that 

residential development would not be feasible in the 

flood zone, but as a golf course. It could also be 

used to enhance the value of the surrounding 
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residential lots. 

The staff, when it finally came down to the 

application for the subject 17.49 acres, the staff 

repeatedly explained that this had to be a major 

modification had to be made to the master plan in 

order to approve the application. 

The staff said, the site is part of the 

1569 acre Peccale Ranch Master Plan. 

staff speaking. 

Pursuant to title 19.10.040, a request has 

been submitted for a modification to the 1990 Peccale 

Ranch Master Plan. 

This is the 

So the applicant new that they needed to 

apply for that, and staff said it was necessary. 

In terms of the record I'm referring to, 

I'm referring to pages 1 through 27 -- pages 2425, 

through 2428, pages 6480 to 6490, and pages 17,362 to 

17,377. 

The next thing staff said is, the site, and 

this is in quotes, the site is part of the Peccale 

Ranch Master Plan. The appropriate avenue for 

considering any amendment to the Peccale Ranch Master 

Plan is through the major modification process as 

outlined in title 19.10.040, close quotes. 

Quoting again, the staff says, the current 
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general plan amendment rezoning and site development 

review requests are dependent upon action taken on 

the major modification, close quotes. 

Next, the proposed development requires a 

major modification on the Peccale Ranch Master Plan. 

Next quote, the department of planning has 

determined that any proposed development not in 

conformance with the approved 1990 Peccale Ranch 

Master Plan would be required to pursue a major 

modification. 

Next, the Peccale Ranch Master Plan must be 

modified to change the land use designations from 

golf/drainage to multi-family prior to approval of 

the proposed general plan amendment. 

The next quote, in order to redevelop the 

property as anything other than a golf course or open 

space, the applicant has proposed a major 

modification of the 1990 Peccale master plan. 

The last quote I'll reference of staff, in 

order to address all previous entitlements on this 

property, to clarify intended future development 

relative to existing development, and because of the 

acreage of the proposal for development staff has 

required a modification to the conceptual plan 

adopted in 1989 and revised in 1990. 
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This alone, without getting into the 

question of substantial evidence, is legally fatal to 

the City's current approval of this application 

because legally they were required to first deal with 

and make an approval of a major modification to the 

master plan, and that was never done. 

Instead, over the course of many months 

there was a gradual retreat from talking about that, 

and instead all of a sudden that discussion and the 

need for following staff's recommendation just went 

out the window. 

I realize that the city attorneys office 

offered his interpretation of the law and said that 

he didn't think that a major modification was 

required, but the Court's not bound by that, that is 

simply counsel advising their client. 

The city is not permitted to change the 

rules and follow something other than what was 

already in place. 

The people who bought into this Peccale 

Ranch Master Plan 1 and 2 did so in reliance upon 

what the master planning was. They bought their 

homes, some of them made a very substantial 

investment, but no one making an insubstantial 

investment, and they moved into the neighborhood. 
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I realize that something has happened with 

the golf course. I myself have never been on this 

property, I think I went to somebody's home that was 

somewhere in Queens Ridge one time several years ago, 

but that's been my total exposure to it, but I 

understand there was a transfer of the golf course 

leased property from one person to another, and 

ultimately a decision was made to close the golf 

course. 

Though one of the things that was 

interesting in the latter staff recommendations was 

the applicant began to I guess wear down the City's 

and the planning department's resistance to this idea 

was well, I'll deal with that later. 

The staff made it clear that a major 

modification was mandatory. 

The city can't decide to just ignore that 

and not go through that process. 

With regard to substantial evidence, I'm 

not going to weigh evidence or offer my opinions on 

whether the evidence was greater or less than 

something to substitute fact finding by the city, but 

the initial flaw, which is a fatal one, is the legal 

flaw, which is failure to deal with the major 

modification that was required in order to approve 
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this application. 

itself tells me that the city abused its discretion 

in approving this plan. 

When we look at the question of whether or 

not substantial evidence supports it, it's ironic 

that the city and Seventy Acres, they want to point 

to staff recommendations that were made toward the 

end of this process, but they want to disregard the 

repeated recommendations by staff in the earlier 

stages which made it clear that a major modification 

was a requirement. 

That in and of itself standing by 

Respondents' claim that the staff reports 

are substantial evidence supporting the city 

council's approval, but ignore the fact that the 

staff reports continuously emphasize that approval of 

the applications were dependent upon a major 

modification to the Peccale Ranch Master Plan. 

Also, when I look at the testimony that was 

offered by various people at the hearing. 

I note that a Michael Buckley made a very 

cogent but succinct presentation as to why he opposed 

this application, and that is in the record at page 

17,261 and 17,262. 

Frank Shreck made an excellent explanation 

as to why he was opposed to this, and that is in the 
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record at pages 17,262 to about 17,266, including his 

responses to questions that were posed to him. 

There was also an individual, I think his 

name was George Garcia, who saw the big picture here, 

and that is that the progress to all intents and 

purposes is incompatible with the master plan that is 

currently in existence out there, and that's why a 

major modification would be necessary. 

One would basically have to allow the tail 

to wag the dog, so that the applicant's request to 

allow it to develop the 17.49 acres as requested 

would be permitted. 

I think that in terms of the duties that 

the city council has, as well as the planning 

commission, it is to protect and serve. They need to 

protect the property rights of those who are already 

committed and invested in a project, and while they 

can consider an application such as the one that is 

under consideration here, the applicant did create 

his own problems because the applicant -- a 

representative for the applicant, Mr. Yohan Lowie, 

testified at the hearing that he bought this property 

before he got zoning approval to do what he 

envisioned doing, and of course that paints him into 

a corner. 
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The old saying is, you are buying a pig in 

a poke, which means you're buying something in a 

burlap sack, you don't know what it is, and you are 

paying a price for it based upon what you think you 

are buying. 

The problem is, he also indicated that he 

had secured pre-approval from every member of the 

city council before he made this purchase. 

Well, of course he's welcome to have 

conversations with the members of the city council 

about what his plans and intentions are, and by the 

way it's not disputed by any members of the city 

council he made that representation, and I guess I 

could reference it specifically, it's in the record 

at the November 16th, 2016 city council meeting, and 

the pages 6454 he says at line 6 -- 7364 to 7365 -- I 

came to all of you, every single one of you here, 

before I purchased this golf course, and I told you 

here's the dilemma. 

Well, okay, but before making such a 

substantial investment typically what one does is, 

one makes the purchase conditioned upon being able to 

secure the zoning that is going to make this a smart 

and wise deal for the purchaser, and apparently that 

wasn't done. The cart was put in front of the horse. 
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And I mention this parenthetically because whether he 

did or didn't is of no consequence to me, I think 

that's the purely legal determination that LVMC 

19.040 was not complied with means necessarily that 

city council abused its discretion, and their 

approval of the application was legally improper. 

I also think that with regard to whether 

there's substantial evidence to support it that 

cannot be said at all. 

I think because the early indications from 

the same staff representatives were that major 

modification needed to be done, and the evidence 

suggested that city council chose to just ignore and 

side-step or otherwise steam-roll past it and do 

simply what the applicant wanted, without 

justification for it, other than the applicant's will 

that it be done. 

So that's my intended ruling. 

I'm happy to hear from council for Seventy 

Acres and from the City Of Las Vegas, but I need to 

let you know that if I find you just repeating what 

is said in your briefs that I read, I'm going to 

interrupt you and say, you said that in your brief, 

and I saw that. 

I'm asking you to augment anything you wish 
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to augment. 

Mr. Kaempfer. 

MR. KAEMPFER: Thank you, Your Honor. 

I will deal with just three points. 

First of all, with regard to purchasing the 

property as a pig in the poke, Mr. Lowie received a 

letter from the City Of Las Vegas that is part of our 

record indicating that the property is zoned for 

17.49 acres RPD-7, so you rely -- You know, I've done 

a little bit of this over the last 40 years, you rely 

on representations that you get from the city as to 

what property is zoned before you make that purchase. 

So that is point number l. 

Point number 2 with regard to the 

modification, it has to be remembered that there are 

two separate applications that were filed. 

The first application that was filed 

related just to this 17 acres, that application was 

delayed, so that we could at request of city council 

do an application on all of the property. 

wanted to see everything. 

They 

They wanted to see the 

whole project develop. 

It was with regard to that project, the 

whole project developed, a development agreement that 

they said, and we want you to do a major 
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modification. 

So when we talk about when the major 

modification is required, it's required when they ask 

us to do the whole thing. 

Now, ironically then we present the whole 

thing in front of the city counsel, the planning 

commission, the planning commission denies it. 

with thè 17 acres. 

to 435. 

So we 

withdraw that portion of it, and we move forward only 

So the major mod that we filed was with 

this whole project, not with the 17 acres. 

Now, that is the first point. 

The second point, we then took the 720 

units that we originally applied for, and reduced it 

When it was reduced to that amount, it then 

fit within the allowable remaining multi-family units 

under the Peccale plans. 

We have always believed, and we're going to 

hear from the city that it's not part of the major 

modification process, and they have demonstrative 

evidence to show you in that regard, but 

THE COURT: Let me ask you, do you consider 

this property where the 435 units would be to not be 

part of the open area drainage? 

MR. KAEMPFER: This part was all part of 
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the golf course. 

THE COURT: 

MR. KAEMPFER: 

drainage issues on it, and I thank you for asking. 

No, it's 

drainage, some have drainage issues, some don't. 

We can develop some right now, others would 

require a FEMA approval, so there's a lot -- 

THE COURT: 

to be submitted. 

Right. 

All the golf course is part of 

I saw where a drainage plan was 

Was it ever actually submitted? 

MR. KAEMPFER: 

Not all the golf course has 

Yes, we submitted a plan, it 

was reviewed, and the county approved conceptually 

what we were doing, what we would have to do if we 

wanted to develop the whole 250 because we have to go 

underground with some underground boxes and then take 

those out just like they did over at Tivoli across 

the street. 

But I can't emphasize enough, Your Honor, 

that the two different applications, that this one 

stands on its own, that if we were here on that 250, 

and they filed for the major mod and had been denied, 

the city was recommending we do that, actually the 

city has determined -- and again, you're going to see 

that they don't think this property is subject to the 

major modification provisions at all, but even if it 
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is, by reducing the density from 720 to 435 we fit 

within those numbers of Peccole Ranch, and the city 

will confirm that. 

So consequently when you fit within those 

numbers, a major modification isn't required. 

is why staff recommendation at the time of the 

planning commission was for a major modification. 

When we got to the city counsel, there was 

no requirement of a major modification was part of 

the application we filed. So this application kind 

of should stand on its own, and on its own the major 

modification is not required or recommended. 

Candidly, the city, as you well know, they 

throw recommendations out all the time. 

something that the law required or the code required, 

but we said we would do it with regard to the whole 

250. 

Now, I do want to address one thing. 

I live in Queens Ridge. 

you how sophisticated I am. 

That 

We knew in our minds that this was not 

I'd like to tell 

When I bought my home, I'm going to look at 

the CC & R's and do all that, but I just want to 

address very briefly the idea this was always 

intended to be a golf course because if it were 
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intended to be a golf course, it could have been and 

should have been protected in that right, it could 

have been zoned RE, could have been zoned U, could 

have been zoned something that evidenced it's not 

developable, but what the Peccoles did is, they 

painted that golf course with the RPD-7 brush, and 

then when they created the CC & R's, just to show 

that wasn't a mistake they put in their CC & R's that 

the golf course is not part of Queens Ridge, that the 

golf course cannot be annexed into Queens Ridge, and 

essentially anybody and everybody who bought into 

Queens Ridge was not buying any interest in that golf 

course. 

And then, Your Honor, what they did was, if 

they bought a lot on the golf course, they made you 

sign an agreement, this is Peccoles, the people who 

tell you, we always wanted it to be golf course and 

all that, this is a quote, seller has made no 

representation or warranties concerning zoning or 

future development of phases of the planned 

community, or the surrounding area, or nearby 

property, close quotes. 

And another quote, and in this purchase 

docum~nt purchaser shall not acquire any rights, 

privileges, interest, or membership in the Badlands 
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Golf Course by virtue of its purchase of the lot. 

And then finally, perhaps most importantly, 

people on the golf course signed a document that 

said, the view may at present or in the future 

include, without limitation, include adjacent or 

nearby single-family homes, multi-family residential 

structures, commercial structures, utility 

facilities, and landscaping, and other items. 

So everyone who bought into Queens Ridge, 

be it me by virtue of CC & R's, and those who have 

custom lots by virtue of the document they signed, 

knew that that golf course -- or should have known 

that golf course could be developed. 

I agree with Your Honor absolutely that if 

in fact that major mod is a requirement, that that 

was not complied with, but it doesn't apply to the 

17, and I can't emphasize that enough, it applies -­ 

they wanted it applied when we were doing the whole 

thing, not the 17, and when we took it down here from 

720 units to 435 units, and we fit within that, the 

city will tell you that clearly no major modification 

was required. 

So we would respectfully ask that Your 

Honor consider those statements. 

THE COURT: All right. 
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Thank you, Mr. Kaempfer. 

Mr. Byrnes. 

MR. BYRNES: Thank you, Your Honor. 

The Court's essentially made a legal 

finding that a major modification is required under 

19.10.040. 

The one thing the Court hasn't done is, 

look at the code. 

No matter what the staff says, city 

attorney, you have to look at the code first. 

And when I was getting ready for this, I 

thought this was going to be an issue here, so I 

actually had a few visual aids prepared. 

THE COURT: 

the code. 

MR. BYRNES: 

Just so you know, I did look at 

Okay. 

Then I want to point something out. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. BYRNES: When you look at the entire 

development -- 

MR. BICE: What provision are we reading 

from? 

MR. BYRNES: 19 .10. 040. 

MR. BICE: Very good. 

I got a copy right here. 
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district. 

MR. BYRNES: This is a zoning code. 

If you look at the first line 

THE COURT: I can't read it. 

MR. BYRNES: You can't read it? 

THE COURT: No. 

THE WITNESS: It's the planned development 

This was a zoning classification. 

applies to parcels that are zoned PD. 

It 

Now, the only place I could find in the 

code where you talk about major mods is 19.10.040(G) 

That is what everyone is talking about here. 

If you read the first line, the development 

of property within the planned development district 

may proceed only in strict accordance with the 

approved master development plan. 

This is not a planned development district. 

Now, if you go look at the City's website 

where this section is, there's this map, they 

referred to this planned development district map. 

If you click on it -- Would it help if I 

moved this up a little further? 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

Yeah. 

If you look on the map, here's 

the entire city, the pink areas show where the 
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planned development is. 

Queens Ridge is down here, and there's two 

little pink areas, is the planned development 

district, these are the only planned development 

district in the Queens Ridge area. 

Now, if you blow that up, you have this 

map -- 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

Okay. 

-- the planned development 

district, this is the house, this is Renaissance 

across Rampart, this is the subject property never 

been classified as a planned development district. 

THE COURT: 

Master Plan? 

MR. BYRNES: 

Is it part of the Peccale Ranch 

Correct. 

But the golf course is not a planned 

development district, it's RPO. 

THE COURT: 

course part of the Peccale Ranch Master Plan? 

MR. BYRNES: That's not an easy question. 

It's part of the area that is the 

subject 

THE COURT: 

My question was, is the golf 

I read that the Badlands was 

part of Peccale Ranch II Master Plan, and then 

another golf course, I guess it was called Canyon 
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Gate or something, was part of the Peccale Ranch 

Number I Master Plan. 

MR. BYRNES: 

down by Sahara -- 

THE COURT: I understand, but it was 

Peccale Ranch Number I, right? 

MR. BYRNES: I believe that's correct. 

THE COURT: And both of them were 

referenced in the documents as part of the master 

plan. 

MR. BYRNES: Correct. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

THE WITNESS: 

modification requirement of 19.10.040 only applies 

the property that is zoned PD. 

The subject property and the rest of the 

golf course is not. 

THE COURT: 

MR. KAEMPFER: 

Canyon Gate is another area 

My point is, the major 

Okay. 

Your Honor, if I might, Mr. 

Davis, who is in-house counsel, asked me to read a 

provision -- Actually, might Mr. Davis just explain 

this? 

He's an attorney for the Seventy Acres. 

THE COURT: 

MR. DAVIS: 

Okay. 

Thank you, Your Honor. 
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Todd Davis, in-house counsel for Seventy 

Acres. 

I just wanted to point out that if you look 

at the Peccale Ranch Conceptual Master Plan phase II 

from 1990, if you go to page 16, at the bottom of 

page 16 there's a couple sentence paragraph, it 

starts with, quality of development. 

Design architecture and landscape standards 

will be established for the development. 

A design review committee will review and 

approve all plans for parcel development of Peccale 

Ranch. 

Covenants, conditions and restrictions will 

be established to guarantee the continued quality of 

development, and a master homeowners association will 

be established for the maintenance of common 

landscaping and open space. 

Separate restrictions will be maintained to 

common area space within those areas. 

My point is simply, anything that is in 

Queens Ridge common interest community where Chris 

lives is part of the master plan, but if it wasn't in 

the CC & R's, it never made it in. 

THE COURT: 

MR. DAVIS: 

Okay. 

It's a little bit of an 
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impossibility for us to put this property into his 

association. 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

Okay. 

Should I continue now? 

Sure. 

What I wanted to emphasize is, 

again the develop of property within the planned 

development district, this is not within the planned 

development district, Subsection (D) doesn't apply to 

this property. This property is RPO, not PD. 

You have to look at 19.10.050, the next 

ordinance next in order in that development area. 

That does contain provision plan amendments approvals 

conditions. 

Amendments to an approved site development 

plan review shall be reviewed and approved pursuant 

to LVMC 19.16.1.008, that is site development plans. 

The a approving body may attach the 

amendment to an approved site development plan area 

and so on. 

You go through site development, the PD, 

and you go through major mods through PD. 

And in this case the city council did say 

it was approved. 

The Court's entire finding is based upon 
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the premise that the major mod under 19.10.040 

applies to this property, and it doesn't. 

This is based on site development review, 

which is proper, and it's also -- 

that? 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

trying to do, but the code -- 

THE COURT: 

recommendations, aren't they long-term professionals 

who make recommendations for the planning commission 

and city council to rely upon? 

MR. BYRNES: 

The city council is never bound by staff, 

and staff makes mistakes, but the code is clear. 

THE COURT: 

make mistakes too, we all can: 

MR. BYRNES: 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

THE COURT: 

Was the staff unfamiliar with 

I don't know what the staff is 

Aren't the staff members making 

They make representations. 

I'm sure the city council can 

Lawyers make mistakes too. 

So do Judges. 

But you have to remember the 

limited review we have here. 

I don't know, this thing went 

on for well over a year. 

The Court's function 

Yes, counsel provided me with 
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documentation, so I could at least see the black and 

white results of that review and what the 

recommendations were. 

MR. BYRNES: Correct, Your Honor. 

But your role here is to look at the record 

and say, is there something in here that supports 

what city council did, you can't re-weigh the 

evidence, and with all due respect you can't 

substitute your judgment for what you think the 

council should have done. 

THE COURT: Well, I'm not. 

I tried to make that clear at the beginning 

that my determination is a purely legal one, that I 

think that LVMC 19.10.040 and the staff's 

recommendation, and the fact that the applicant 

applied for a major modification, all indicate that 

everybody knew a major modification was necessary. 

Then somewhere -- Which means city council 

had to do that. 

City council didn't do that, so they abused 

their discretion. 

The fact that they went on down the road 

and started retreating from the city code and from 

staff's recommendations, I don't think that that is 

self-serving evidence to kind of bolster their 
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decision warrants upholding it. 

I'm not re-weighing the evidence though in 

terms of whether there is substantial evidence to 

support. 

My determination is a purely legal one. 

MR. BYRNES: 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

But your determination is 

based completely on a finding that Subsection (D) of 

19.10.040 applies to this property. 

Yes. 

It's based on the limited 

expressed language development of property within the 

plan development district is subject to that 

provision. 

disagree. 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

development district. 

disagree. 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

THE COURT: 

I understand your point, I just 

This is not within a planned 

I understand your point, but I 

I mean, if you have questions 

about the findings here, then I believe your only 

recourse would be to remand this to city council for 

further findings about the application of this order. 

No, the Court's entitled to 

interpret the city code and whether or not it's been 
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complied with, and my interpretation is, the city 

code required major modifications, and city council 

didn't make a major modification. 

MR. BYRNES: 

Hills case it's clear that the City's interpretation 

of its own code is entitled to deference, unless it's 

a manifested abuse of discretion. 

heard. 

this. 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

further cases, you have to defer to the City's 

interpretation of its own law if it's within the 

expressed terms of the ordinance. 

I have just shown the expressed terms of 

the ordinance, this doesn't apply. 

THE COURT: 

MR. BICE: 

THE COURT: 

MR. BYRNES: 

If you like, at the Cimarron 

Right. 

Here if you look at the 

You have showed me your 

perspective and your view that the expressed terms of 

the ordinance doesn't apply, and I understand what 

you're saying, but I disagree. 

Your Honor, I'd like to just be 

Hold on. 

I want to make sure Mr. Byrnes is finished. 

Everybody will get a chance to address 

I have said my piece. 
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I respectfully disagree with the Court, and 

we'll deal with this down the road, I guess. 

THE COURT: 

Mr. Kaempfer. 

Mr. Kaempfer: 

I've been asked to put on the record as 

well that the Peccole Ranch Master Plan had expired, 

and that has been before, I just wanted the record to 

note that's our position that it was expired, and 

that's why in 2001 the ordinance what was adopted 

reaffirmed all of the property from you went back to 

U for PD-7. 

So thank you, Your Honor. 

THE COURT: 

to the capital letter U? 

MR. KAEMPFER: 

THE COURT: 

THE COURT: 

MR. BICE: 

Thank you. 

One more quick COMMENT. 

You say U. 

The U, meaning undeveloped. 

Right. 

Mr. Bice. 

You are referring 

Briefly, Your Honor. 

I've known Mr. Byrnes a long time, and I 

respect Mr. Byrnes, but this argument that is a 

hyper-technical argument he's now come up with, with 

all due respect to him, and the city attorneys office 

they know full well why staff says that provision 

applies, and said for years it applies, because RPO~ 
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Your Honor, they don't use that anymore. 

The RPO criteria that they were using in 

the past has been eliminated in favor of PD, so to 

come into court and say he doesn't know why the city 

staff is applying this criteria to Queens Ridge is 

with all due respect to Mr. Byrnes that is just not 

right, he knows full well why staff was applying that 

provision, because staff has always applied that to 

-- for PD because RPO doesn't exist anymore, the code 

had been amended, and it's now called PD. 

The original application 

THE COURT: 

MR. BICE: 

There's no 

RPO designation going forward in the city. 

Let me tell you about Mr. Kaempfer's 

argument because it's just not -- just not right. 

He claims to you that the only reason that 

they submitted this major modification was, it was in 

conjunction with the broader development, that's not 

true. 

Is that from the 180 code? 

Yes, that was a later 

application. 

The original application was for Seventy 

Acre~ LLC, and this is the staff's report from 

January of 2016, for the record to be clear that is 

record 17,362 through 17,377 what staff repeatedly 
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said, repeatedly told them on the Seventy Acres, you 

must submit a major modification, had nothing to do 

with the 250, you must submit a major modification 

because it's a master planned community, and by the 

way under the City's general plan, this is right out 

of page 26 of the general plan, the following master 

development plan areas are located within the 

southwest sector. Then it goes on to list, and we 

put this in the brief 

THE COURT: 

MR. BICE: 

Yes, you told me that. 

All of them, if the city were 

right on this, Your Honor, all of these master 

planned communities would be vulnerable to a 

developer just wiping them out without any 

modifications to the existing plan. 

Ranch Master Plan. 

That is not what 

the code contemplated, and that is why the staff from 

day one pointed out you must obtain a major 

modification, because this is covered by the Peccale 

And what the developer did in response to 

the staff, this is clear back in January of '16, the 

developer then submitted a major modification, in 

addition to submitting other applications, and that 

major modification went by number MOD-63600, that 

process was going forward. 
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THE COURT: 

MR. BICE: 

It's MOD-1600, right? 

MOD-63600. 

What was really happening here is, as they 

were moving forward they realized they were not going 

to get the votes on that major modification, they can 

count heads, they just like weren't going to get the 

approval from the planning commission for it, so that 

is when they withdrew it. 

That major modification was exactly what 

the city required clear was in 2016, and then they 

withdrew it, took the position we can can go forward 

now without a major modification. 

But ironically even the staff knew that was 

wrong after the planning commission meeting because 

on November 16 of 2016, this is for the record at 

record 2421 through 2438, staff again repeatedly 

emphasizes, this is after the planning commission 

meeting and after the withdrawal, Your Honor, they 

point out you must have a major modification, and in 

fact you can't proceed without a major modification 

for the general planning amendment. 

And in fact, Your Honor, I'd point out for 

the Court on the last page of that staff report 

there's master planned areas on the graph, right 

beneath it is Peccale Ranch, and if you go to the 
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right of that, there's a list of whether or not it's 

in compliance, and the staff puts N for no because 

the staff's acknowledging it is not in compliance. 

That is why, Your Honor, the statute 

requires a major modification by it's expressed 

terms, and I'll find the language here. 

THE COURT: 

MR. BICE: 

THE COURT: 

Well, in the Exhibit 1 the City 

Of Las Vegas provided they referenced actually 

excerpts of Exhibit 1, which they referred to as 

Exhibits 33 and 35, but I went back and looked at the 

entirety of Exhibit 1, which included Exhibit 33 and 

35, that there were some pages from it, and that is 

the staff report to the February 15th, 2017 council 

meeting, which is even after the November 16th, 2016 

you are talking about -- 

Correct. 

-- and it says, the proposed 

development -- This is on record page 11,240, at the 

bottom it says, the proposed development requires a 

major modification of the Peccale Ranch Master Plan. 

It says on page 11,241, the department of 

planning has determined that any proposed development 

not in conformance with the approved 1990 Peccale 

Ranch Master Plan would be required to pursue a major 

modification of the plan prior to or concurrently 
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with any new entitlement. 

It goes on to say, in order for this site 

development plan review request to be approved, the 

1990 Peccale Ranch Master Plan land use designation 

over this site must be amended from golf course 

drainage to multi-family. 

And then on page 11,242 still talking about 

that same staff report at page 3, it says that 

section 19.16.030 (1) of the Las Vegas Zoning Code 

requires that the following conditions be met in 

order to justify a general plan amendment, and it is 

that the Peccale Ranch Master Plan must be modified 

prior to approval of proposed general plan amendment, 

and the applicant has submitted a second general plan 

amendment that would be compatible with the proposed 

high-density residential land use if the major 

modifications approved. 

That is from record 11,243. 

There are additional things that they say 

are conditions and requirements in that report. 

They also say on page 11,243, item number 

4, the proposed general plan amendment does not 

conform to the 1990 Peccale Ranch Master Plan, which 

designates the site for golf course drainage land 

uses. 
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So there's no question that the staff 

recommendation all along has been that it requires a 

major modification. 

time. 

wrong. 

MR. BICE: 

I don't need to take up anymore of your 

I wanted to respond. 

THE COURT: Don't worry about my time. 

We're here to deal with this. 

MR. BICE: 

Exactly, Your Honor. 

Mr. Kaempfer's final point where 

he's arguing something, by the way no one in the city 

has bought this argument, but I guess he's asking you 

to accept it, is that because they reduced the 

density on the 17 acres, they somehow now have made 

it fit within the pre-existing amount of density 

allowed for the site, and that somehow means it takes 

it outside of the major modification requirements. 

Again, I'll make two points why that is 

Number one, under the terms of the statute 

about a major modification, and as the staff recited, 

it required a major modification. It doesn't matter 

whether or not they reduced the number of units for 

formally on the master plan the city approved, and 

this is for the record page 18 of the master plan for 

BILL NELSON & ASSOCIATES 
Certified Court Reporters 

702.360.4677 
Fax 702.360.2844 

37 

37 of 45

191



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

the density, that Mr. Kaempfer is claiming was 

pre-approved is only for the 461 acres and excludes 

the golf course because the golf course was 

specifically carved out with having no density 

whatsoever. 

correct? 

THE COURT: 

MR. BICE: 

original golf course. 

Under 461, was 250 and 211, 

No, Your Honor, that 211 was the 

They later added more golf course to it, 

and it grew to 250. 

The 401 and the 60 are where the houses are 

at today, which is what they had approved the 

housing. 

What the Peccoles ultimately did, even 

though they got a total of 4247 units approved, they 

ultimately didn't build them all because what they 

did was ended up creating larger premium lots because 

they recognized they could actually make more money 

that way, and then they sold these larger premium 

lots, as opposed to building more homes. 

So the land for which development was 

approved by the City Of Las Vegas has already been 

developed, and that is why the staff correctly said 

from day one, if you're going to try and change, 
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because the city designated this PROS under its plan, 

it's specifically marked on the City's maps when this 

purchaser bought this land, he knew full well what it 

was designated because all you go down and do is at 

look at the City's maps of the master plan, and it's 

all designated in green with the letters PROS across 

it, that's why the staff said, if you're going to try 

and now eliminate that designation and put houses on 

that property, it would require a major modification 

to the Peccole Ranch Master Plan. 

I thank the Court for its time. 

THE COURT: All right. 

MR. KAEMPFER: Your Honor, I appreciate 

your time, and I know you want to get to the truth of 

this thing. 

The City's never taken that position 

Bradley Jerbic's taken that position about the 435 

being within the allowable density, so that isn't 

something I made up. 

Secondly, there's actually no density that 

is currently authorized for the land that is in 

question here, the 17.49 acres. 

I mean, there's a little dash there 

indicating that at that point in time they were not 

allocating anything for that. 
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of it. 

I would agree with Your Honor's assessment 

I will roll over and play dead if you can 

show me that on the final staff approval relating to 

the 17 acres in front of city council it says staff 

recommendation of approval says, file a major mod. 

Staff puts conditions of approval on all of 

their applications. 

They talked about it, a major mod, they 

have always talked about that, but when it came down 

to it, when we went from the 720 to the 435, and when 

we went in front of that city council, there was no 

recommendation of filing a major mod with conditions 

relating to SDR-62393, said approval of the general 

plan amendment approval of shall be void two years, 

development in conformance with the site plan 

necessary building permits, but no requirement on the 

final SOR, which is what she's showing me it is, what 

I represented to the Court on 050.005.990 where it 

was part of the site development review approval of a 

major mod. That is on July 12th of 2016. 

Then later on that condition is removed, 

and I can only suggest, Your Honor, it was removed 

because reduction in the number of units, the change 

in not doing the whole plan, but doing just the 17 
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acres. 

So staff talks about a major mod, but when 

it comes down, are they recommending a major mod, 

insisting it as a zoning approval? 

it. 

The answer is, no. 

THE COURT: Understand the code requires 

What I was pointing to was the fact that my 

interpretation of the law saying that it's required, 

I find corroboration in the fact that staff 

recommended to, and the applicant applied for, major 

modification. 

MR. KAEMPFER: Your Honor, so we're clear, 

Your Honor's point is, a major modification is 

required under the code? 

point. 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. KAEMPFER: All right. 

I would like also finally to make one other 

This master plan was never recorded. 

The other communities you're talking about 

have recorded master plans. 

The only thing that was recorded against 

ours are the CC & R's, so I just wanted that for the 

record. 
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Thank you. 

THE COURT: 

MR. BICE: 

Well -- 

MR. BYRNES: 

Mr. Bice, anything further? 

No, Your Honor. 

Honor? 

THE COURT: 

Mr. Byrnes. 

MR. BYRNES: 

May I say one thing, Your 

Okay. 

Mr. Bice mentioned before that 

the reason this 19.10.040 applies to this property, 

although it's not a planned development district is 

because we don't use the RPO zoning class anymore. 

I read the ordinance to you, and I want to 

emphasize, if you go to the next ordinance in the 

code, 19.10.050, that is the ultimate RPO, we don't 

allow new development under PPO, but we have rules 

what we do with existing RPO developments, which this 

is. 

THE COURT: Was this a new development? 

MR. BYRNES: No, it's already RPO, been RPO 

since 1990 or so. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

MR. BYRNES: It says 

THE COURT: I mean, the application. 

MR. BYRNES: They actually rezoned it for 
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out of RPO when we did this. 

But it says when -- if you have existing 

RPO zoning, you want to change where it's happening, 

you do it through site development review, which is 

precisely what happened here. 

I think the Court needs to look at 

19.10.040 and 19.10.050 as you will see the major 

modification requirement doesn't apply here, this is 

done under site development comparing apples and 

oranges. 

THE COURT: All right. 

Anything else? 

MR. BICE: I would defy that, Your Honor, 

but I think we've taken up enough of your time. 

THE COURT: Okay. 

So my ruling is, that the city council 

abused its discretion, violated the law, the Las 

Vegas Municipal Code Title 19 by not first dealing 

with the major modification on this application. 

And the question regarding whether or not 

there's substantial evidence to support it, I don't 

really reach because in review of the information 

that was provided to me there is a great deal of 

opposition evidence that was presented. 

I referenced some of it by naming the 
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people by name whose remarks I read, but there was 

also a person named Garcia, there were many people 

whose remarks I read, and it was clear to me they 

were there, not there speaking in favor of the 

application, they were speaking most strikingly 

against this, and so the city when they reference 

substantial evidence that is consisting of staff 

recommendations for approval, they are blowing hot 

and cold at the same time staff recommendations were 

to the major modification was required, so I don't 

think the city can suggest or infer that there was 

substantial evidence to support its decision simply 

by saying that there were 23,000 pages of 

information, it just doesn't tell the story. 

So, Mr. Bice, I'm going to ask you to 

prepare the order, circulate it to opposing counsel 

as to approval as to form and content. 

I realize you will want the transcript. 

MR. BICE: 

That's true. 

THE COURT: 

Yes, I will. 

So I'd like you to submit to 

council for the city and Seventy Acres a draft for 

their review within two weeks after you receive the 

transcript from the Court Reporter. 

MR. BICE: We will do that, Your Honor. 
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THE COURT: All right. 

MR. BICE: I'm going to get out a business 

card to hand to the Court Reporter right now. 

THE COURT: Anything further before we 

adjourn on this matter? 

MR. BICE: No. 

Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. KAEMPFER: 

your time. 

MR. BYRNES: 

MR. HOLMES: 

THE COURT: 

Obviously we thank you for 

Yes, Your Honor, thank you. 

Thank you, Your Honor. 

All right. 

(Proceedings concluded.) 
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Agenda Item No.: 122. 
 

 

AGENDA SUMMARY PAGE - PLANNING 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF: FEBRUARY 21, 2018 

DEPARTMENT: PLANNING  

DIRECTOR:  ROBERT SUMMERFIELD Consent    Discussion 

 

SUBJECT: 

GPA-72220 - GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT - PUBLIC HEARING - 

APPLICANT/OWNER: 180 LAND CO, LLC - For possible action on a request for a General 

Plan Amendment FROM: PR-OS (PARKS/RECREATION/OPEN SPACE) TO: ML (MEDIUM 

LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL) on 132.92 acres on the east side of Hualapai Way, 

approximately 830 feet north of Charleston Boulevard (APNs 138-31-601-008; and 138-31-702-

003 and 004), Ward 2 (Seroka) [PRJ-72218].  The Planning Commission vote resulted in a tie, 

which is tantamount to a recommendation of DENIAL. Staff recommends APPROVAL. 

 

PROTESTS RECEIVED BEFORE: APPROVALS RECEIVED BEFORE: 

    Planning Commission Mtg. 67 Planning Commission Mtg. 44 

        City Council Meeting 152 City Council Meeting 28 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Planning Commission vote resulted in a tie, which is tantamount to a recommendation of 

DENIAL. Staff recommends APPROVAL. 

 

BACKUP DOCUMENTATION: 
1.  Location and Aerial Maps 

2.  Staff Report 

3.  Supporting Documentation 

4.  Photo(s) 

5.  Justification Letter 

6.  Submitted after Final Agenda - Protest/Concern Letters and Photo for GPA-72220 [PRJ-

72218] and Protest/Support Postcards for WVR-72004, SDR-72005 and TMP-72006 [PRJ-

71990], WVR-72007, SDR-72008 and TMP-72009 [PRJ-71991], WVR-72010, SDR-72011 and 

TMP-72012 [PRJ-71992] 

7.  Submitted at Meeting - Recusal Request Letters by Mark Hutchison for GPA-72220 [PRJ-

72218], WVR-72004, SDR-72005 and TMP-72006 [PRJ-71990], WVR-72007, SDR-72008 and 

TMP-72009 [PRJ-71991], WVR-72010, SDR-72011 and TMP-72012 [PRJ-71992] 

8.  Verbatim Transcript of Items 122-131 

9.  Backup Submitted at the January 9, 2018 Planning Commission Meeting 

 

Motion made by STAVROS S. ANTHONY to Hold in abeyance Items 122-131 to 5/16/2018 
 

Passed For:  5; Against: 0; Abstain: 0; Did Not Vote: 0; Excused: 1 

MICHELE FIORE, BOB COFFIN, CAROLYN G. GOODMAN, STAVROS S. ANTHONY, 

STEVEN G. SEROKA; (Against-None); (Abstain-None); (Did Not Vote-None); (Excused-LOIS 

TARKANIAN) 
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Agenda Item No.: 122. 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF: FEBRUARY 21, 2018 
 

Minutes: 

A Verbatim Transcript of Items 122-131 is made a part of the Final Minutes. 

 

Appearance List: 

CAROLYN G. GOODMAN, Mayor 

STEVEN G. SEROKA, Councilman 

BRADFORD JERBIC, City Attorney 

PETER LOWENSTEIN, Deputy Planning Director 

LUANN D. HOLMES, City Clerk 

BOB COFFIN, Councilman (via teleconference) 

MICHELE FIORE, Councilwoman 

STAVROS S. ANTHONY, Councilman 

STEPHANIE ALLEN, Legal Counsel for the Applicant 

MARK HUTCHISON, Legal Counsel for 180 Land Co, LLC, Seventy Acres LLC and Fore 

Stars, Ltd. 

FRANK SCHRECK, Queensridge Resident 

TODD BICE, Legal Counsel for the Queensridge Homeowners 

LISA MAYO, Concerned Citizen 
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A-18-771224-C 

PRINT DATE: 04/16/2018 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: April 16, 2018 

 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
Other Civil Matters COURT MINUTES April 16, 2018 

 
A-18-771224-C Fore Stars, Ltd., Plaintiff(s) 

vs.  
Daniel Omerza, Defendant(s) 

 
April 16, 2018 1:00 PM Minute Order  

 
HEARD BY: Kishner, Joanna S. COURTROOM: Chambers 
 
COURT CLERK: Tena Jolley 
 
PARTIES  
PRESENT: 

 
None.  Minute Order Only – no hearing held. 

 
JOURNAL ENTRIES 

 
- Although the Court could and would rule fairly and without bias, recusal is appropriate in the 
present case in accordance with Canon 2.11(A)(3) of the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct in order to 
avoid the appearance of impartiality or implied bias as the Court could be viewed to have 
information relating to the facts and/or circumstances regarding the underlying issues. Thus, the 
Court recuses itself from the matter and requests that it be randomly reassigned in accordance with 
appropriate procedures. 
 
 

Case Number: A-18-771224-C

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
4/17/2018 11:30 AM
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

**** 

 

 

Fore Stars, Ltd., Plaintiff(s) 

vs.  

Daniel Omerza, Defendant(s) 

Case No.: A-18-771224-C 

  

Department 24 
 

 

NOTICE OF DEPARTMENT REASSIGNMENT 

 

      NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the above-entitled action has been randomly 

reassigned to Judge Jim Crockett. 

 

  This reassignment follows the filing of a Peremptory Challenge of Judge .  

 

  This reassignment is due to the recusal of Judge JOANNA KISHNER.  See minutes in 

file. 

 

  This reassignment is due to:  

 

ANY TRIAL DATE AND ASSOCIATED TRIAL HEARINGS STAND BUT MAY BE 

RESET BY THE NEW DEPARTMENT. 

 

      Any motions or hearings presently scheduled in the FORMER department will be 

heard by the NEW department as set forth below. 

 

      Motion to Dismiss, on 06/05/2018, at 9:00 AM. 

 

PLEASE INCLUDE THE NEW DEPARTMENT NUMBER ON ALL FUTURE 

FILINGS. 

 

 STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CEO/Clerk of the Court 

 

 

 

By: 

 

 

/S/ Ivonne Hernandez 

 

 Ivonne Hernandez 

Deputy Clerk of the Court 

 

Case Number: A-18-771224-C

Electronically Filed
4/17/2018 9:09 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I hereby certify that this 17th day of April, 2018 

 

 The foregoing Notice of Department Reassignment was electronically served to all 

registered parties for case number A-18-771224-C. 

  

  

 I placed a copy of the foregoing Notice of Department Reassignment in the 

appropriate attorney folder located in the Clerk of the Court’s Office: 

  

  
 

 Mitchell   J. Langberg 
 

                                                         /S/ Ivonne Hernandez 

 

 Ivonne Hernandez 

Deputy Clerk of the Court 
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Case Number: A-18-771224-C

Electronically Filed
4/19/2018 5:39 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

**** 

 

 

Fore Stars, Ltd., Plaintiff(s) 

vs.  

Daniel Omerza, Defendant(s) 

Case No.: A-18-771224-C 

  

Department 2 
 

 

NOTICE OF DEPARTMENT REASSIGNMENT 

 

      NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the above-entitled action has been randomly 

reassigned to Judge Richard F. Scotti. 

 

  This reassignment follows the filing of a Peremptory Challenge of Judge Jim Crockett.    

  

ANY TRIAL DATE AND ASSOCIATED TRIAL HEARINGS STAND BUT MAY BE 

RESET BY THE NEW DEPARTMENT. 

 

      Any motions or hearings presently scheduled in the FORMER department will be 

heard by the NEW department as set forth below. 

 

      Motion, on 05/02/2018, at 9:00 AM. 

      Motion, on 06/06/2018, at 9:00 AM  

 

PLEASE INCLUDE THE NEW DEPARTMENT NUMBER ON ALL FUTURE 

FILINGS. 

 

 STEVEN D. GRIERSON, CEO/Clerk of the Court 

 

 

 

By: 

 

 

 

/s/Michelle McCarthy  

 Michelle McCarthy, Deputy Clerk of the Court 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I hereby certify that this 20th day of April, 2018 

 

 The foregoing Notice of Department Reassignment was electronically served to all 

registered parties for case number A-18-771224-C. 

  

 

                                                        /s/ Michelle McCarthy 

 Michelle McCarthy, Deputy Clerk of the Court 

Case Number: A-18-771224-C

Electronically Filed
4/20/2018 9:49 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Case Number: A-18-771224-C

Electronically Filed
5/4/2018 6:15 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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